FINAL REPORT

AVIAN-HABITAT RELATIONSHIPS: A LITERATURE REVIEW AND ASSESSMENT



January 29, 2014

Danielle Jones, Montana Audubon

In Collaboration with Yellowstone River Conservation District Council Technical Advisory Committee





TABLE OF CONTENTS

Introduction and Objectives	1
Methods	1
General Results	3
Avian Responses	3
Species of Concern	5
Black-billed Cuckoo	5
Bobolink	5
Red-headed Woodpecker	5
Least Tern	6
Physical Impact: Fragmentation and Loss of Forest Habitat	6
Land Use Drivers	6
Impacted Habitat Resource: Amount and Configuration of Forest Cover	6
Avian Responses to Forest Cover	7
Summary of Impacts Related to Loss of Forest Habitat	8
Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River	9
Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships	11
Physical Impact: Loss of Structurally Complex Forest Habitat	12
Land Use Drivers	12
Impacted Habitat Resource: Amount of Structurally Complex Forest Habitat	13
Avian Responses to Habitat Complexity	14
Summary of Impacts Related to the Loss of Habitat Complexity	14
Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River	15
Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships	18
Physical Impact: Expansion of Detrimental Species - Brown-headed Cowbirds	19
Land Use Drivers	19
Impacted Habitat Resource: Habitat Quality – Cowbird Parasitism	
Avian Responses to Cowbird Parasitism	22
Summary of Impacts Related to the Expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds	22
Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River	
Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships	26
Physical Impact: Expansion of Detrimental Species – Invasive Competitors	27
Physical Impact: Spread of Invasive Plant Species	
Russian Olive	28
Saltcedar	29
Relevance to the Yellowstone River	29
Physical Impact: Direct Adult or Nest Mortality	30
Mowing	
Pesticide and Herbicide Use	31
Relevance of Results to Cumulative Effects Analysis	
Black-billed Cuckoo	
Bobolink	
Red-headed Woodpecker	32

Least Tern	3	2
Literature Cited	3	7

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Yellowstone River bird species identified as 'forest specialist' species	10
Table 2.	Metrics for examining relationships related to the loss of forest habitat	12
Table 3.	Yellowstone River bird species identified as 'understory specialist' species	16
Table 4.	Metrics for examining relationships related to the loss of structurally complex habitat	19
Table 5.	Preferred feeding and breeding habitats for Brown-headed Cowbirds	. 20
Table 6.	Yellowstone River bird species identified as 'Cowbird host' species	. 24
Table 7.	Metrics for examining relationships related to the expansion of Cowbirds	. 26
Table 8.	Reach-scale metrics identified for potential Cumulative Effects analyses	34
Table 9.	Reach-scale metrics of habitat for each of the focal species of concern	37

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix 1.	Riparian Bird Species Documented Along the Yellowstone River in 2006-2007	54
Appendix 2.	Avian-Habitat Relationships: Loss of Cottonwood Forest Habitat	58
Appendix 3.	Avian-Habitat Relationships: Loss of Structurally Complex Forest Habitat	60
Appendix 4.	Land Use-Habitat Relationships: Expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds	61



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Funding for this project was provided to Montana Audubon by the Northern Great Plains Joint Venture. Special thanks to Amy Cilimburg of Montana Audubon for her valuable input and support for the project, and Warren Kellogg and the Yellowstone River Cumulative Effects Assessment work group for collaborating closely and providing valuable guidance and suggestions.

Suggested citation: Jones, D. 2014. Avian-Habitat Relationships: A Literature Review and Assessment. Final Report. Montana Audubon. http://www.mtaudubon.org/about/publications.html

Avian-Habitat Relationships: A Literature Review and Assessment, Final Report

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The main goal of this review and assessment is to identify how bird survey data collected along the Yellowstone River can best be used to inform future Yellowstone River Conservation District Council Cumulative Effects analyses. These analyses focus on describing the potential impacts of land use management along the Yellowstone River on avian communities. To understand how land use potentially impacts birds, it is necessary to understand how changes to habitat resources caused by land use could influence characteristics of bird communities. The specific objectives of this study were to conduct a literature review to identify relationships between riparian birds and habitat resources, summarize these relationships in the context of the potential impacts of land use management on bird communities along the Yellowstone River, and outline protocols for future Cumulative Effects analyses.

Six main impacts of land use along the Yellowstone River are identified:

- 1) Fragmentation and loss of forest habitat
- 2) Loss of structurally complex cottonwood forest habitat
- 3) Expansion of detrimental species: Brown-headed Cowbirds
- 4) Expansion of detrimental species: Invasive competitors
- 5) Spread of invasive plant species
- 6) Direct adult or nest mortality

The first three impacts receive the most discussion and are the focus of this report. For each of these impacts, land use practices driving changes to habitat resources are identified and avian responses to habitat change are reviewed. Relevance of results to Yellowstone River bird communities are discussed, as well as two types of potential future analyses, including analyses that use local-scale data to validate identified avian-habitat relationships, and reach-scale analyses that quantify characteristics of land use and habitat resources that are proposed to impact bird communities.

These analyses will allow for inference about how changes in land use and habitat resources may impact bird communities when assessing Cumulative Effects. Understanding avian-habitat relationships along the Yellowstone River in the context of Cumulative Effects will help to identify relevant aspects of habitat that are both important to birds and impacted by land use. Furthermore, using available data to quantify changes in land use or habitat along the Yellowstone River will allow for an assessment of the magnitude of potential Cumulative Effects that may impact bird communities.

INTRODUCTION AND OBJECTIVES

The purpose of this review and assessment is to identify how bird survey data collected along the Yellowstone River can best be used to inform future Yellowstone River Conservation District Council (YRCDC) Cumulative Effects analyses. In 2006 and 2007, bird surveys were conducted for the YRCDC Avian Study quantifying the distribution of riparian bird species along the Yellowstone River. Additional riparian bird surveys conducted by Montana Audubon along the Yellowstone in 2012 produced more data about bird communities along the river.

Cumulative Effects analyses will focus on describing the potential impacts of land use management along the Yellowstone River on riparian bird communities. For terrestrial animals such as riparian birds, land use management along rivers usually impacts species indirectly through changes to habitat resources. Consequently, to understand how land use along the Yellowstone River potentially impacts birds, it is necessary to understand how changes to habitat resources caused by land use could influence characteristics of bird communities. The main goal of this study is to identify relationships between riparian birds and habitat resources that are relevant to Yellowstone River Cumulative Effects. The specific objectives were to:

- 1) Conduct a literature review to identify relationships between riparian birds and habitat resources that are relevant to the Yellowstone River system.
- 2) Summarize these identified relationships between riparian birds and habitat resources in the context of the potential impacts of land use management on bird communities along the Yellowstone River.
- 3) Outline protocols for future Cumulative Effects analyses using existing avian data and other environmental data sets compiled for the Yellowstone River.

Understanding avian-habitat relationships along the Yellowstone River in the context of Cumulative Effects will help to identify relevant aspects of habitat that are both important to birds and impacted by land use. This knowledge will guide efforts to use available data for quantifying changes in land use or habitat along the Yellowstone River, and will allow for an assessment of the magnitude of potential Cumulative Effects that may impact bird communities.

METHODS

To identify important relationships that exist between riparian bird communities and habitat resources, I reviewed published research papers, as well as reports and other gray literature from government, academia, and private organizations. I focused on studies that occurred in deciduous riparian habitats in North America, with special attention given to studies in the West.

The assessed relationships represent the impacts of land use drivers on avian habitat resources, and the expected avian responses to changes in that habitat resource:

Land use driver \rightarrow Avian habitat resource \rightarrow Avian response

Avian habitat resources are specific aspects of habitat that influence the distribution and abundance of species or the success of avian populations. Impacts to habitat resources are generally reflected in two

ways, either through changes to the availability of suitable habitat, or through changes to the quality of habitat that is available. Habitat availability is altered through changes in the extent, composition, and configuration of habitat that provides necessary resources to avian communities. Habitat quality is altered when existing habitat is degraded through changes to biological interactions, such as changes to populations of nest parasites or competitors, or changes in the amount or intensity of interactions with humans that result in direct mortality of individuals. The avian response is the aspect of the avian community that is expected to change as a result of impacts to habitat resources, for example the number of species present or the abundance of a particular species.

The results from this review are organized by 'Physical Impacts', which are the general impacts to habitat resulting from land use activities. Once avian-habitat relationships are identified for each Physical Impact, metrics and existing datasets are identified (when possible) for quantifying each of the parts of the relationship. These metrics could then be used in future analyses of Cumulative Effects along the Yellowstone River. Two types of potential future analyses are discussed:

- 1) Analyses that use local-scale data describing avian communities and habitat along the Yellowstone River to validate the relationships identified in this review and provide additional evidence that they are relevant to the Yellowstone River system.
- 2) Reach-scale analyses that quantify characteristics of land use and habitat resources that are proposed to impact bird communities based on relevant avian-habitat relationships from this review. These analyses will help to infer how changes in land use and habitat resources may impact bird communities when assessing Cumulative Effects.

Both of these analyses would use the avian and environmental datasets currently incorporated into the Cumulative Effects Database. Data were collected in 2006 and 2007 for the YRCDC Avian Study at over 300 study sites in 21 reaches from Big Timber to Sidney, Montana. This dataset quantifies, for each study site, the presence and abundances of 64 bird species (see Appendix 1 for a list of all of the species and their scientific names). Additionally, data from the 2012 Montana Audubon field study were collected at over 340 sites from Billings to Sidney using similar methodology as the Avian Study. One additional dataset exists that could potentially be incorporated into the Cumulative Effects Database; in 2002, birds were surveyed for the Upper Yellowstone River Task Force at 130 sites along the river from Gardiner to Livingston (Hansen et al. 2003). All of these datasets can be used to calculate metrics that represent avian responses, which could then be incorporated into the Cumulative Effects Database and used for future data summaries and analyses.

Characteristics of land use and riparian habitat, and changes in these landscape features over time, have been quantified in various datasets for the Yellowstone River. These datasets include efforts that describe riparian vegetation (DTM Consulting, Inc. 2008) and land use (DTM Consulting, Inc. 2013) within the Yellowstone River corridor, as well as various geomorphic characteristics of the floodplain (DTM Consulting, Inc. and Applied Geomorphology, Inc. 2007). With these data, it is possible to summarize and quantify how land use may be impacting bird habitat resources, and consequently infer how bird communities may in turn be affected.

Based on their expert knowledge of the Yellowstone River system, the YRCDC Cumulative Effects

Working Group identified six main Physical Impacts representing changes to habitat resources caused by various land uses along the Yellowstone River:

- 1) Fragmentation and loss of forest habitat
- 2) Loss of structurally complex cottonwood forest habitat
- 3) Expansion of detrimental species: Brown-headed Cowbirds
- 4) Expansion of detrimental species: Invasive competitors
- 5) Spread of invasive plant species
- 6) Direct adult or nest mortality

These Physical Impacts are the focus of this assessment and report. The first three impacts receive most of the attention because data exist to substantiate important relationships that may exist along the Yellowstone River. For the last three impacts, discussion is limited to a brief summary of results from the literature review.

GENERAL RESULTS

I reviewed over 200 papers for this assessment. Information was generally abundant, although studies from the West were sometimes scarce. The three main Physical Impacts targeted for this review are very relevant to avian conservation and management in general, as many of them are often cited as main factors in the population declines of many North American bird species. Specific variables used to measure habitat condition varied across studies, and often depended on the research question, management concern, or region where the study occurred. However, within a given Physical Impact, general habitat metrics that were consistently related to measures of riparian bird communities were evident. These measures of habitat condition are discussed in detail for each of the Physical Impacts in the sections following the '*General Results*'.

Avian Responses

Most studies looked at the same general avian responses, specifically bird species richness, the richness of particular guilds, and the abundances of individual focal species. Bird species richness measures the number of different species observed at a site. Richness is a good indicator of habitat condition because it often reflects the availability of resources in a given habitat; if a broad diversity of nesting and food resources exists at a site, more species would be expected to be there to use those diverse resources.

Guilds are groups of species that use similar resources, and are useful indicators of habitat condition because they allow for an assessment of the availability of certain types of resources in a given habitat. Examining the collective responses of species in a guild may provide strong evidence for how particular changes in habitat are influencing certain types of bird species. The most common types of guilds encountered in riparian habitat studies include guilds based on general habitat preferences (e.g. forest versus edge habitat), and guilds representing nesting and foraging strategies (e.g. canopy nester or ground forager).

Many studies also examined the responses of groups of species based on a shared conservation or management status. Analyses using these types of species groups allow for an assessment of the

impacts of habitat changes on groups of species of concern. For example, riparian obligates, a group of specialist species largely dependent on riparian habitats, were often included in analyses of avian responses to habitat condition. However, results from analyses using conservation-based groups may be ambiguous or difficult to interpret because group association does not reflect habitat use, and species do not necessarily respond to habitat changes in the same ways (Faaborg 2002, Gentry et al. 2006). A more informative way to assess impacts to species of concern is to discuss the responses of these species as a subset of habitat guilds. For example, of all the species in a certain habitat guild that are predicted to be negatively impacted by a particular habitat change, who of those species have a special conservation status? Including a discussion such as this will aide in the identification of the species most at risk from the effects of particular changes in habitat condition. The types of species that may be especially impacted by changes to habitat resources include state-listed species of concern, federally listed threatened or endangered species, or species with declining population trends. Knowledge about potential impacts to these most vulnerable species is especially useful for assessing the magnitude of the impact and informing management recommendations.

In summary, the key avian responses that demonstrated the strongest relationships with measures of riparian habitat condition included:

- 1) Species richness
- 2) Richness of various habitat guilds
- 3) Abundances of individual species, including:
 - Riparian obligates
 - Declining species
 - Species of general conservation concern

These general avian responses are the focus of the discussion of avian-habitat relationships for each of the Physical Impacts. The types of habitat guilds used varies based on the nature of the Physical Impact, and will be discussed in detail in each section below. As a part of this review, designations of habitat guild associations and conservation status were determined for all of the 64 avian species documented along the Yellowstone River in the YRCDC Avian Study (see Appendix 1). Species were placed into habitat guilds based on published life-history accounts and results from empirical studies. Twelve species were determined to be 'Riparian Obligates' based on an assessment of western riparian species conducted by Rich (2002), or by other life-history accounts. Species were determined to have declining populations based on results from the Breeding Bird Survey, a long-term monitoring program designed to track the status and trends of North American bird species (Sauer et al. 2012). Species were designated 'declining' if long-term (1966-2011) population trends for birds in the Central Region of the US were significantly negative. The Central Region of the US was used because the majority of study reaches along the Yellowstone River fall into this region, so trends should be relevant to Yellowstone River bird populations. Eighteen of the 64 species were designated as 'Declining Species'. Finally, nine species were determined to be species of general conservation concern because they were designated as either a 'Potential Species of Concern' or a 'Species of Concern' by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (MTNHP). Potential Species of Concern are those "native taxa for which current, often limited, information suggests potential vulnerability", while Species of Concern are those "native

taxa that are at-risk due to declining population trends, threats to their habitats, restricted distribution, or other factors" (MTNHP 2013). See Appendix 1 for habitat guild and conservation status designations for each of the Yellowstone River species.

Species of Concern

Special attention is given to the four avian species that are identified as Species of Concern in Montana by MTNHP. Three of these species are also designated as 'Watchlist Species' by Partners in Flight (PIF), an international partnership of private and government organizations that publishes a formal assessment of the conservation status of North American bird species. Watchlist Species are "those which are most vulnerable at the continental scale, due to a combination of small and declining populations, limited distributions, and high threats throughout their ranges" (Panjabi et al. 2005). Conservation status is also reported for Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP) or Bureau of Land Management (BLM) when appropriate. Following is a general description of habitat and conservation status for each of these species, retrieved from the MTNHP Montana Field Guide (MTNHP 2013).

Black-billed Cuckoo

- Habitat: Breeds east of the Rocky Mountains in wooded draws, forest edges, thickets, and shelterbelts. In Montana, they are most often found in riparian cottonwoods, green ash, and American elm forests with a shrubby understory.
- Conservation Status: PIF Watchlist Species, MTNHP Species of Concern, MTFWP Species of Moderate Conservation Need.
- Reason for Conservation Status: Steep long-term population declines recorded throughout North America.

<u>Bobolink</u>

- Habitat: Breeds throughout Montana in tall grass and mixed grass prairies and hayfields.
- Conservation Status: MTNHP Species of Concern, BLM Sensitive species.
- Reason for Conservation Status: Recent large population declines in Montana and surrounding areas.

<u>Red-headed Woodpecker</u>

- Habitat: Breeds throughout the eastern half of Montana in riparian forest along major rivers, or in open savannah with adequate canopy cover and snag density.
- Conservation Status: PIF Watchlist Species, MTNHP Species of Concern, MTFWP Species of Moderate Conservation Need, BLM Sensitive species.
- Reason for Conservation Status: Steep long-term population declines recorded throughout North America.







Avian-Habitat Relationships: A Literature Review and Assessment, Final Report

<u>Least Tern</u>

- Habitat: Breeds on unvegetated sand and gravel bars of large rivers and reservoirs, particularly along the Missouri and Yellowstone Rivers.
- Conservation Status: Federally Endangered Species, PIF Watchlist Species, MTNHP Species of Concern, MTFWP Species of Greatest Conservation Need.
- Reason for Conservation Status: Inundation of nest sites and habitat loss has led to population declines throughout the species range; Yellowstone River nesting population is generally less than 30 birds.



Effects of Physical Impacts are specifically discussed for each of these species in the sections below, when appropriate.

PHYSICAL IMPACT: FRAGMENTATION AND LOSS OF FOREST HABITAT

The amount and configuration of forest cover are important habitat characteristics influencing the abundance and distribution of birds. Habitat loss and fragmentation are main factors contributing to the population declines of many bird species.

Land Use Drivers

Land use practices can significantly alter the extent and configuration of forest habitat. Along the Yellowstone River, there are three main land use practices that were identified as potential drivers of forest habitat loss and fragmentation, including:

- 1) **Bank armoring**: The construction of armor along the banks of the river for the protection of transportation, agricultural, and urban land uses restricts natural channel migration and decreases riparian turnover and the creation of new forest habitat.
- 2) **Riparian conversion Agriculture**: The conversion of riparian forest to agricultural land uses, such as crop or pasture, leads to a decline in the amount of forest in the riparian zone.
- 3) **Riparian management Livestock grazing**: Browsing of cottonwood seedlings and saplings by livestock results in a decline in the regeneration of riparian forest and a loss in recruitment of forest habitat.

All of these land uses result in either a direct or long-term decline in the amount and contiguity of riparian forest habitat available to birds along the Yellowstone River.

Impacted Habitat Resource: Amount and Configuration of Forest Cover

In general, the amount of forest cover in the landscape has a strong effect on characteristics of riparian bird communities. Most riparian studies find measures of forest cover to be important predictors of species occurrence and community attributes. The amount of forest cover in riparian zones has been quantified in three main ways:

1) **Total forest area**: Total amount of forested habitat in the surrounding landscape, usually measured within one to five kilometers of the river.

- 2) Forest width: Average width of the riparian forest bordering the river.
- 3) Patch size: Total area of each distinct forest patch in the riparian zone.

See Appendix 2 for a detailed list of citations for each of these metrics.

Most of the studies that measured forest width occurred in the eastern part of North America, where deciduous riparian buffer strips are retained in a landscape that was historically contiguous deciduous forest. Western riparian landscapes are different from eastern landscapes in that stringers of deciduous riparian vegetation bordering rivers are naturally distinct from surrounding uplands, and are not generally uniform in width or length. Consequently, relationships between bird communities and riparian width may not be the same in the West as they are in the East. However, studies in the West have found riparian width to be an important predictor of bird distribution (Fletcher and Hutto 2008, Cooke and Zack 2008, 2009). Given the extreme variation in floodplain width that occurs between different reaches along the Yellowstone River, it may be appropriate to consider the potential value of measuring riparian width as an indicator of the amount and configuration of riparian forest habitat available to birds.

In addition to habitat loss, habitat fragmentation is often assumed to negatively affect bird populations. Fragmentation describes changes in the pattern of habitat and how it is distributed across the landscape. Specifically, bird populations may be impacted when the loss of forest habitat results in the division of larger forest patches and an increase in the amount of edge habitat in the landscape. Many studies have documented lower reproductive success for birds nesting in edge habitat due to increased nest predation and parasitism at forest edges (Paton 1994, Donovan et al. 1995). However, most of these studies occurred in the East, where forests were historically extensive and contiguous in nature, and fragmentation has resulted in a dramatically different forest landscape. In the West, riparian habitat is naturally fragmented and, compared with eastern forests, most of the forest habitat is (and has always been) in close proximity to an edge (Heltzel and Earnst 2006, Gentry et al. 2006, Dobkin and Wilcox 1986, Howell et al. 2007, Gergel et al. 2002, Tewksbury et al. 1998). Negative effects of fragmentation on reproductive success have rarely been documented in western studies (Cavitt and Martin 2002, Fletcher 2009, Gentry et al. 2006, Davidson and Knight 2001, Howell et al. 2007, Heltzel and Earnst 2006, Tewksbury et al. 1998, 2006, Morgan et al. 2007; but see Sharp and Kus 2006). Consequently, it may not be relevant to consider the relationships between bird community characteristics and measures of fragmentation (e.g. the amount of edge in the landscape) along western rivers such as the Yellowstone (Gergel et al. 2002).

Avian Responses to Forest Cover

Avian responses to measures of forest cover reflect aspects of community diversity, as well as the diversity and abundance of guilds based on general habitat preferences of species. The guild that responds most consistently to measures of forest cover is the habitat-based 'forest specialist' guild, which includes species that prefer habitats comprised of more extensive forest. Species in this guild are sensitive to the amount of forest cover in the landscape, and collectively and individually are often good indicators of the impacts of forest habitat loss. Key avian responses to measures of forest cover included:

- 1) Total species richness: Increases with forest cover.
- 2) Richness of forest specialist species: Increases with forest cover.
- 3) Abundances of individual forest specialist species: Increase with forest cover.

See Appendix 2 for a detailed list of citations documenting relationships between habitat metrics and these avian responses.

In the West, riparian zones support some of the most extensive deciduous forests available in the landscape, especially compared to drier grassland, shrub, and coniferous upland vegetation communities. Consequently, floodplain vegetation along rivers such as the Yellowstone may be especially important for sustaining regional populations of avian species that depend on large tracts of deciduous forest. Measures that characterize the amount and configuration of forest cover may be good indicators of habitat availability for these species.

It is generally assumed that the abundance of Brown-headed Cowbirds, a nest parasite that has been implicated in the population declines of many avian species throughout North America, increases in areas where forest cover has been reduced and fragmentation has increased. Most studies documenting negative relationships between cowbird abundance and forest cover are located in the East (Donovan et al. 2000), where fragmentation has created open areas and edge habitat in historically extensive forests. Cowbirds depend upon open areas and edges for feeding, so the loss of forest cover has allowed cowbirds to expand their range into formerly inaccessible eastern forests. However, for the naturally fragmented deciduous forests of the West, much of the riparian forest habitat has historically been in close proximity to edges. In these naturally fragmented areas, edge effects related to cowbird parasitism are not expected to be observed (Howell et al. 2007). Consequently, there may not be a strong relationship between cowbirds and measures of forest cover or edge in western riparian systems (Tewksbury et al. 1998, 2006, Goguen and Mathews 2000, Sharp and Kus 2006, Brodhead et al. 2007, Hochachka et al. 1999; but see Stumpf et al. 2012), and cowbirds may not be a relevant avian response to consider for this Physical Impact. Cowbirds are strongly associated with other land use drivers and Physical Impacts that are discussed in later sections of this report.

Summary of Impacts Related to Loss of Forest Habitat

Following is a summary of the key findings and relationships related to the impacts of riparian forest habitat loss:

- 1) The conversion of riparian habitat to agricultural land uses, the construction of bank armor, and livestock grazing all result in either a direct or long-term decline in the amount and contiguity of riparian forest habitat available to birds along the Yellowstone River.
- 2) In general, the amount of forest cover in the landscape has a strong effect on characteristics of riparian bird communities and is usually measured as the total area of forest cover in the landscape, the width of the riparian forest, or the size and area of forest patches.
- 3) Total species richness, species richness of the 'forest specialist' guild (representing species that prefer habitats comprised of extensive forest), and abundances of individual 'forest specialist' species all exhibit strong and consistent positive relationships with measures of forest cover.

Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River

Of the 27 studies that provided information about relationships between avian communities and measures of forest cover, 15 were located in the West. Eight of those studies occurred within cottonwood forest, similar in species composition and structure to forests along the Yellowstone River. Research studies along the Bitterroot River in Montana (Tewksbury et al. 1998, 2002), Snake River in Idaho (Saab 1999, Tewksbury et al. 2002, 2006), and Missouri River in Montana (Tewksbury et al. 2002) and South Dakota (Gentry et al. 2006) were particularly relevant to the bird species and habitat conditions found along the Yellowstone River.

Results from the YRCDC Avian Study (Jones and Hansen 2009) provide further evidence for the relationships between bird community characteristics and habitat resources documented during the literature review. The percent forest cover at a site was an important factor influencing the distribution of avian species along the Yellowstone; six of 14 species were significantly more abundant with increasing forest cover, while four species were less abundant with increasing forest cover.

Based on results from empirical studies reviewed for the literature assessment and general life-history characteristics, 18 of the species documented along the Yellowstone River during the Avian Study generally exhibit positive relationships with measures of forest cover and are considered to be 'forest specialist' species (Table 1). These species would potentially be most negatively impacted by the loss of cottonwood forest habitat along the Yellowstone River. Of these 18 forest specialist species, eight may be especially vulnerable to the loss of forest habitat due to either declining population trends, their status as a species of management concern, or their relatively exclusive use of riparian forest habitat (Table 1). American Redstarts and Ovenbirds may be especially at risk because they are both experiencing declining populations and are riparian obligate species. Of special consideration is the Black-billed Cuckoo, a Montana Species of Concern that is experiencing steep population declines and is dependent upon riparian forest for breeding habitat. Cuckoo's are sometimes referred to as an 'edge' species because of their preference for shrubby thickets. However, this species may be impacted by fragmentation, as abundance is positively correlated with patch size, and Cuckoo's are often absent from smaller forest fragments (Hughes 2001, Martin 1981, Galli et al. 1976).

Species	Sources for a Positive Relationship with Measures of Forest Cover	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
American Redstart	Gentry et al. 2006 (Big Sioux and Missouri Rivers, SD) Kilgo et al. 1998 Peak and Thompson 2006 Sallabanks et al. 2000 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT)	X		X
Black-billed Cuckoo	Hughes 2001	X	SOC	X
Black- capped Chickadee	Davidson and Knight 2001 (Yampa River, CO) Perkins et al. 2003 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)	X		
Black- headed Grosbeak	Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 Tewksbury et al. 2002 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)			
Black-and- white Warbler	Conner et al. 2004 Kilgo et al. 1998		PSOC	X
Cedar Waxwing	Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)			
Downy Woodpecker	Conner et al. 2004 Kilgo et al. 1998			
Gray Catbird	Gentry et al. 2006 (Big Sioux and Missouri Rivers, SD) Saab 1999 (Snake River, ID) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)			X
Hairy Woodpecker	Jackson et al. 2002			
House Wren	Davidson and Knight 2001 (Yampa River, CO) Saab 1999 (Snake River, ID) Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)			

Table 1. Yellowstone River bird species identified as 'forest specialist' species based on life-history characteristics and empirical studies, and conservation status for each species.

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Species	Sources for a Positive Relationship with Measures of Forest Cover	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
Least Flycatcher	Fletcher 2009 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)			
Ovenbird	Peak and Thompson 2006 Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)	X	PSOC	X
Plumbeous Vireo	Goguen and Curson 2012		PSOC	
Red-eyed Vireo	Conner et al. 2004 Gentry et al. 2006 (Big Sioux and Missouri Rivers, SD) Groom and Grubb 2002 Hodges and Krementz 1996 Keller et al. 1993 Peak and Thompson 2006 Rodewald and Bakermans 2006 Sallabanks et al. 2000 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT)	X		
Rose- breasted Grosbeak	Wyatt and Francis 2002			
White- breasted Nuthatch	Gentry et al. 2006 (Big Sioux and Missouri Rivers, SD) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT)			
Western Wood-pewee	Davidson and Knight 2001 (Yampa River, CO) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Oregon, Nevada) Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)			
Yellow Warbler	Cooke and Zack 2009 Davidson and Knight 2001 (Yampa River, CO) Gentry et al. 2006 (Big Sioux and Missouri Rivers, SD) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID) Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)			X

Table 1 continued.

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships

Future analyses using avian and habitat data collected along the Yellowstone River may help to validate the relationships identified in the literature review. A one-kilometer landscape scale is suggested for the analyses of avian-habitat relationships; this is the most common and responsive scale used in

riparian studies in the West (Tewksbury et al. 2002, Saab 1999). Suggested analyses include the examination of relationships between each of the avian responses and habitat resources that are relevant to this Physical Impact. See Table 2 for a description of the specific metrics and data available for the examination of Yellowstone River avian-habitat relationships. See Section '*Relevance Of Results To Cumulative Effects Analysis'* for a discussion of potential Cumulative Effects assessments.

Table 2. Specific metrics and data available for the examination of Yellowstone River avian-habitat
relationships related to the fragmentation and loss of forest habitats.

Metric Type	Metric	Description of Metric (Data Source)
Avian Response	Total species richness	Average number of species observed (Avian Data)
Avian Response	Species richness of forest specialist guild	Average number of forest specialist species observed (Table 1; Avian Data)
Avian Response	Abundances of vulnerable forest specialist species	Average abundances for each of the eight forest specialist species that are either experiencing declining population trends, are species of general conservation concern, or are obligate riparian breeders (Table 1; Avian Data)
Habitat Resource	Total forest area	Area of open timber and closed timber habitat types surrounding each avian study site (Riparian Mapping)
Habitat Resource	Patch size	Size of open or closed timber forest patch surrounding each avian study site and average size of all patches in the surrounding landscape (Riparian Mapping)
Habitat Resource	Forest width	Average width of riparian forest (open and closed timber) surrounding each avian study site (Riparian Mapping)

PHYSICAL IMPACT: LOSS OF STRUCTURALLY COMPLEX FOREST HABITAT

Structurally complex forests are characterized by multiple vertical layers of vegetation that provide well-developed, dense understory, midstory, and canopy strata. Structurally complex habitats generally harbor more species than forests with simple structure because there are more niches providing different types of nesting and foraging resources (MacArthur and MacArthur 1961). A decline in the extent of structurally complex forest in the landscape often results in a loss of species that depend upon habitats with dense and diverse vegetation, and an overall loss of species diversity.

In general, the structural complexity and diversity of vegetation within a habitat is one of the most important factors influencing the distribution of bird species (MacArthur and MacArthur 1961, James 1971, Cody 1981). In the semi-arid West, riparian zones usually contain the most structurally complex forest in the landscape, and provide important resources for avian species dependent upon complex riparian habitats. Declines in the amount of structurally complex forest available to birds in the riparian zone could result in the loss of certain riparian species and an overall decline in riparian bird diversity.

Land Use Drivers

Land use practices can significantly alter the local habitat characteristics of riparian vegetation. Along

the Yellowstone River, there are two main land use practices that were identified as potential drivers of change in the availability of structurally complex forest habitat, including:

- 1) **Bank armoring**: The construction of armor along the banks of the river for the protection of transportation, agricultural, and urban land uses restricts natural channel migration and decreases rates of riparian turnover. The resulting decline in the regeneration of cottonwood forest leads to a loss of structurally complex early and mid-successional cottonwood forest habitat types, and an increase in the proportion of decadent, structurally simple forest.
- 2) **Riparian management Livestock grazing**: Heavy grazing in cottonwood forest leads to a decline in the density of understory and midstory vegetation, and results in more structurally simple forest habitat.

These land uses result in either an immediate or long-term decline in the extent and proportion of structurally complex riparian forest habitat available to birds along the Yellowstone River.

Impacted Habitat Resource: Amount of Structurally Complex Forest Habitat

Habitat complexity is usually quantified at a local scale, by measuring the density of distinct vertical vegetation strata within the forest. However, it is difficult to quantify local-scale habitat characteristics, such as vegetation complexity, at a landscape scale; only one riparian study attempted to do this. Seavy et al. (2009) quantified characteristics of the forest canopy within the landscape (i.e. 50 hectares surrounding bird sampling areas) using LiDAR and found that many riparian species responded to this measure of vegetation structure, suggesting that forest canopy cover may be a good landscape-scale indicator of habitat structure that is important to riparian birds. Studies have described a positive relationship between the amount of forest canopy cover and the structural complexity of cottonwood forests in Montana (Boggs and Weaver 1994, Hansen et al. 1995) and elsewhere (Merritt and Bateman 2012). Based on these relationships, landscape-scale metrics can potentially be derived using forest canopy cover as a surrogate for understory vegetation structure.

Vegetation structure and complexity in riparian habitats can be quantified in three ways:

Local scale:

- 1) **Cover at various vertical strata**: Vegetation volume or density at various heights, usually using ground, shrub, low canopy, and high canopy strata categories.
- Habitat types with different structural characteristics: Classification of sites into different habitat categories based on structural characteristics of the forest stand. Landscape scale:
- 3) Area of forest with different canopy cover characteristics: Forest patches with higher canopy cover represent stands with greater structural complexity.

Many studies examined relationships between characteristics of vegetation complexity and bird community attributes using these habitat measures, and most found complexity to be a good predictor of bird distribution. See Appendix 3 for a detailed list of citations for each of these metrics.

Avian Responses to Habitat Complexity

Avian responses to measures of habitat complexity reflect aspects of community diversity, as well as the diversity and abundance of guilds based on where species forage or nest within the forest. The guild that responds most consistently to measures of habitat complexity is the 'forest understory' guild, comprised of species that forage or nest in the shrub strata of the forest. Species in this guild are sensitive to the availability of complex forest habitat within the landscape because they depend upon well-developed vegetation in the forest understory. Consequently, these species are likely to be good indicators of impacts related to declines in the amount of structurally complex habitats in riparian zones. Species belonging to other guilds, such as those that nest in cavities, generally have weaker relationships with habitat complexity than those species that forage or nest in understory vegetation (Gutzwiller and Anderson 1987, Scott et al. 2003). Key avian responses to measures of habitat complexity included:

- 1) Total species richness: Increases with structural complexity.
- 2) Richness of forest understory species: Increases with structural complexity.
- 3) Abundances of individual forest understory species: Increase with structural complexity.

See Appendix 3 for a detailed list of citations documenting relationships between habitat metrics and these avian responses.

Unlike many other land use drivers that have long term or large scale impacts on habitat that are difficult to measure and must be inferred (e.g. bank stabilization), grazing directly changes the structure of riparian habitat on a local scale that is relatively easy to quantify. Given this, and considering that grazing has been identified as a substantial threat to riparian habitats in the West (Kauffman and Krueger 1984), many studies have directly and simultaneously examined how livestock grazing modifies habitat structure, and how these changes in habitat subsequently impact bird communities. Researchers generally examined the impacts of grazing by comparing differences in habitat characteristics and bird communities in a grazed area versus an ungrazed area, or by measuring changes in birds and habitat after grazing has either been initiated or removed from an area. Grazing in riparian forest may cause habitat simplification due to a loss of understory vegetation (Scott et al. 2003, Taylor 1986, Ammon and Stacey 1997, Schulz and Leininger 1990, 1991, Mosconi and Hutto 1982, Wales 2001, Saab 1998, Eggers 2005), and total bird species richness, species richness of understory species, and abundances of some understory species all decline with the loss of structural complexity caused by grazing (see Appendix 3 for citations). Species belonging to other guilds, such as those that forage in the canopy or nest in cavities, are less impacted by grazing than those species that depend on understory vegetation (Bock et al. 1993, Wales 2001, Earnst et al. 2005, 2012, Mosconi and Hutto 1982, Saab 1998, Saab et al. 1995). However, the strength of the relationship between grazing and birds is often dependent upon the intensity and timing of grazing in a given riparian area. Differences in bird and vegetation communities are often not evident in lightly grazed areas versus ungrazed areas, or in areas where grazing occurs only during the fall or winter (Sedgwick and Knopf 1987, Stanley and Knopf 2002, Nelson et al. 2011, Sedgwick and Knopf 1991, Lucas et al. 2004).

Summary of Impacts Related to the Loss of Habitat Complexity

Following is a summary of the key findings and relationships related to the effect of declines in the

availability of structurally complex riparian forest habitat:

- 1) Livestock grazing and the construction of bank armor cause either direct or long-term declines in the amount of structurally complex forest habitat available to birds along the Yellowstone River.
- 2) The structural complexity of riparian forest has a strong effect on characteristics of riparian bird communities and can be measured either at a local scale by quantifying the vertical density of vegetation in the forest, or at a landscape scale by quantifying the amount of forest with greater structural complexity in the canopy.
- 3) Total species richness, species richness of the 'understory specialist' guild (representing species that forage or nest in the shrub layer of riparian forest), and abundances of individual 'understory specialist' species all exhibit strong and consistent positive relationships with measures of structural complexity, and negative relationships with heavy grazing.

Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River

Results from studies in all regions of North America found that habitat structure was a very important driver of bird distribution. However, many studies were especially relevant to the Yellowstone River system because they were located in cottonwood gallery forest along large western rivers in Montana or bordering states. Walcheck (1970), Scott et al. (2003), and Fletcher and Hutto (2008) all examined relationships between birds and habitat complexity along the Missouri River in Montana, while Rumble and Gobeille (2004) investigated birds and habitat along the Missouri in South Dakota. Mosconi and Hutto (1982) measured impacts of grazing and habitat structure on riparian birds along the Bitterroot River in Montana, while Tewksbury et al. (2002) examined the impacts of grazing for birds along the Snake River in Idaho and the Missouri River in Montana. Results from these studies are especially informative because they consider habitats with similar vegetation species composition and structure, and often discuss bird species that also occur along the Yellowstone River.

Results from the YRCDC Avian Study provide further evidence for the relationships between bird community characteristics and habitat complexity (Jones and Hansen 2009). In general, structurally complex cottonwood forest habitats were abundant along the river, and habitat structure was an important factor influencing the distribution of avian species. Total species richness was highest in structurally complex habitats with a dense shrub understory, and guilds comprised of species that nest and forage in the forest understory were most abundant in habitats with dense shrub. Five of 13 species analyzed were significantly more abundant in structurally complex cottonwood forest habitats with a dense shrub understory.

Eleven of the 64 species documented along the Yellowstone River generally exhibited positive relationships with habitat complexity (Table 3). These understory specialist species depend upon structurally complex cottonwood forest habitats because they nest or forage in the understory or lower canopy. Consequently, these species would potentially be most negatively impacted by the loss of structurally complex cottonwood forest habitat caused by grazing and bank stabilization along the Yellowstone River. Studies that investigated the impacts of grazing on understory vegetation and birds provide further evidence for these potential impacts; eleven of the twelve Yellowstone River understory

specialist species have been reported to be negatively impacted by grazing (Table 3).

Of these eleven understory specialist species, 7 may be especially vulnerable to the loss of structurally complex habitats due to either declining population trends, their status as a species of general conservation concern, or their relatively exclusive use of riparian forest habitat (Table 3). American Redstarts and Common Yellowthroats may be especially at risk because they are both experiencing declining populations and are riparian obligate species. Of special consideration is the Black-billed Cuckoo, a Montana Species of Concern that is particularly dependent upon structurally complex cottonwood forest for breeding habitat (Hughes 2001).

Table 3. Yellowstone River bird species identified as 'understory specialist' species based on life-history characteristics and empirical studies, and conservation status for each species.

Species	Sources for a Positive Relationship with Measures of Understory Habitat Complexity and a Negative Relationship with Grazing	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
American Goldfinch	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Walcheck 1970 (Missouri River, MT) McGraw and Middleton 2009 <i>Grazing</i> : Bock et al. 1993			
American Redstart	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Sherry and Holmes 1997 Grazing: Mosconi and Hutto 1982 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT)	X		X
Black-billed Cuckoo	Habitat complexity: Hughes 2001 Rumble and Gobeille 2004 (Missouri River, SD)	X	SOC	X
Black-headed Grosbeak	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Ortega and Hill 2010 <i>Grazing</i> : Earnst et al. 2012 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT and Snake River, ID)			
Cedar Waxwing	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Witmer et al. 1997 Grazing: Bock et al. 1993 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)			

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Table 3 continued.

Species	Sources for a Positive Relationship with Measures of Understory Habitat Complexity and a Negative Relationship with Grazing	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
Common Yellowthroat	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Walcheck 1970 (Missouri River, MT) Guzy and Ritchison 1999 <i>Grazing</i> : Bock et al. 1993 Krueper et al. 2003 Mosconi and Hutto 1982 (Bitterroot River, MT)	X		X
Gray Catbird	Habitat complexity: Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT) Walcheck 1970 (Missouri River, MT) Rumble and Gobeille 2004 (Missouri River, SD) Smith et al. 2011 <i>Grazing</i> : Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT and Snake River, ID)			Х
Lazuli Bunting	Habitat complexity: Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Greene et al. 1996 Grazing: Earnst et al. 2012 Mosconi and Hutto 1982 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT and Snake River, ID)			
Song Sparrow	Habitat complexity: Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT) Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Dickson et al. 2009 Arcese et al. 2002 <i>Grazing</i> : Krueper et al. 2003 Earnst et al. 2005, 2012 Mosconi and Hutto 1982 (Bitterroot River, MT) Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Snake River, ID)			Х
Spotted Towhee	Habitat complexity: Walcheck 1970 (Missouri River, MT) Greenlaw 1996 Grazing: Earnst et al. 2005, 2012			

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Table 3 continued.

Species	Sources for a Positive Relationship with Measures of Understory Habitat Complexity and a Negative Relationship with Grazing	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
Yellow Warbler	Habitat complexity:Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT)Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT)Walcheck 1970 (Missouri River, MT)Rumble and Gobeille 2004 (Missouri River, SD)Lowther et al. 1999Grazing:Krueper et al. 2003Earnst et al. 2005, 2012Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT and SnakeRiver, ID)Taylor and Littlefield 1986			X
Yellow- breasted Chat	Habitat complexity: Jones and Hansen 2009 (Yellowstone River, MT) Scott et al. 2003 (Missouri River, MT) Rumble and Gobeille 2004 (Missouri River, SD) Eckerle and Thompson 2001 <i>Grazing:</i> Krueper et al. 2003 Tewksbury et al. 2002 (Missouri River, MT)			X

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships

Future analyses using avian and habitat data collected along the Yellowstone River will likely help validate the bird-habitat relationships identified in the literature review. During the YRCDC Avian Study, relationships between habitat complexity and avian abundance were examined for only 4 of the twelve species identified as 'understory specialist' species (Jones and Hansen 2009). Habitat complexity was quantified by assigning each survey site to one of five cottonwood habitat types that varied in the degree of structural complexity. New analyses could be completed to validate the importance of relationships between habitat complexity and avian abundance for the remaining 8 understory specialist bird species occurring along the Yellowstone River (Table 3).

Forest patches with higher canopy cover may represent patches with higher structural complexity in general. The accuracy of this metric can be assessed by comparing local-scale habitat data collected during the YRCDC Avian Study with landscape-scale habitat mapping data from the Riparian Mapping effort. The Riparian Mapping data classifies riparian forest patches into categories with differing canopy cover characteristics, and data exist for the entire Lower Yellowstone corridor. Vegetation data from the Avian Study were collected at over 200 sites that overlap with the Riparian Mapping data.

The importance of this landscape scale measure of habitat structure to birds could be validated by examining the relationships between total bird species richness, richness of the understory specialist guild, and the abundances of understory specialist bird species relative to canopy cover of the forest patch. If total and understory specialist guild richness is higher, and understory species are more abundant in patches with higher canopy cover, this may provide further support for the use of this landscape-scale metric of habitat structure. See Table 4 for a description of the specific metrics and data available for the examination of Yellowstone River avian-habitat relationships. See Section '*Relevance Of Results To Cumulative Effects Analysis'* for a discussion of potential Cumulative Effects assessments.

Metric Type	Metric	Description of Metric (Data Source)
Avian Response	Total species richness	Average number of species observed (Avian Data)
Avian Response	Species richness of understory specialist guild	Average number of understory specialist species observed (Table 3; Avian Data)
Avian Response	Abundances of understory specialist species	Average abundances for each of the understory specialist species (Table 3; Avian Data)
Habitat Resource	Cottonwood habitat type	Five cottonwood habitat types with various degrees of structural complexity, ranging from cottonwood forest with an open understory to cottonwood forest with a dense, diverse shrub understory (Avian Habitat Data)
Habitat Resource	Forest habitat type by canopy cover	Two forest habitat types: open timber (<20% canopy cover) and closed timber (>20% canopy cover) (Riparian Mapping)

Table 4. Specific metrics and data available for the examination of Yellowstone River avian-habitat relationships relevant to the loss of structurally complex forest habitat.

PHYSICAL IMPACT: EXPANSION OF DETRIMENTAL SPECIES - BROWN-HEADED COWBIRDS

Brown-headed Cowbirds are nest parasites that lay their eggs in the nests of over 100 documented 'host' species. The hosts provide all care for the Cowbird young, often resulting in the neglect of natal young and reduced reproductive output for the host species (Brittingham and Temple 1983, Zanette et al. 2007). Cowbirds were originally limited to the short-grass plains of central North America, where they foraged on insects disturbed by the movements of buffalo herds. Their distribution has significantly expanded in the past century; Cowbirds are now primarily associated with agricultural and developed landscapes throughout North America (Lowther 1993). The negative impact of Cowbirds is a major concern in avian conservation and management, and Cowbird expansion has been implicated in the population declines of many songbird species in North America (Robinson et al. 1995).

Land Use Drivers

Relationships between land use and the distribution of Cowbirds have been well-studied. Cowbirds forage on the ground in open areas where livestock or human development are present and food resources are abundant and easy to find (Lowther 1993). The most important drivers of Cowbird

distribution are the proximity to and density of feeding sites in the landscape (Chace et al. 2005, Morrison and Hahn 2002). Researchers that followed Cowbirds fitted with radio-tracking devices reported that preferred Cowbird feeding sites include pastures, corrals, and other rural and exurban areas with livestock and agriculture, as well as open areas and lawns of residential areas (Table 5). Conversely, Cowbirds prefer to breed in forest and woodland habitats where host densities are highest (Chace et al. 2005, Morrison and Hahn 2002, Rothstein et al. 1984), and will consequently commute far distances (on average 1 to 4 kilometers, up to 15 km; Chace et al. 2005) daily between morning breeding habitat and afternoon foraging sites.

Habitat Type	Habitat	Citations
Feeding	Corrals, feedlots, pastures with livestock	Rothstein et al. 1984, Rothstein et al. 1987, Heath et al. 2010, Borgmann and Morris 2010, Goguen and Mathews 2001, Kostecke et al. 2003, Thompson 1994, Morris and Thompson 1998, Verner and Ritter 1983, Goguen and Mathews 1999, Chace et al. 2005, Howell et al. 2007
	Residential, urban areas	Rothstein et al. 1984, Chace et al. 2003, Chace 2004, Thompson 1994
	Cropland	Howell et al. 2007 <i>Not important feeding habitat</i> : Goguen and Mathews 2001, Thompson 1994, Chace et al. 2005
Breeding	Forest or woodland	Howell et al. 2007, Thompson 1994, Goguen and Mathews 2001, Verner and Ritter 1983, Rothstein et al. 1984

Table 5. Preferred feeding and breeding habitats for Brown-headed Cowbirds.

The expansion of land uses that provide these types of Cowbird feeding habitats along the Yellowstone River will potentially result in increases in Cowbird abundance and parasitism in riparian forests that constitute prime Cowbird breeding habitat. Along the Yellowstone River, there are three main land use practices that are potential drivers of Cowbird expansion into riparian habitats, including:

- 1) **Riparian management Livestock grazing**: Presence of grazing livestock results in an increase in Cowbird feeding opportunities in close proximity to the riparian zone, and a subsequent increase in the abundance of Cowbirds in riparian habitats.
- Riparian conversion Urban/Exurban: Presence of residential areas in close proximity to the riparian zone results in an increase in Cowbird feeding opportunities associated with lawns, corrals, and other open habitats, and a subsequent increase in the abundance of Cowbirds in nearby riparian habitats.
- Riparian conversion Agriculture: Presence of agricultural lands, including pastures, crops, and open fields, and associated farmsteads, feedlots, and corrals, results in an increase in Cowbird feeding sites in close proximity to the riparian zone.

These types of land uses within the floodplain of the Yellowstone River may result in the degradation of riparian habitats due to negative impacts of Cowbird parasitism on riparian bird communities. Specific landscape scale metrics that significantly influence Cowbird distribution in riparian habitats include the distance to or density of:

- Livestock areas (corrals, feedlots, or actively grazed pastures)
- **Residential, urban, or exurban areas** (rural residences)
- Agricultural lands (tilled land or pasture)

The presence of livestock areas in the surrounding landscape are consistently and strongly correlated with Cowbird abundance and rates of parasitism in breeding habitats. Areas grazed by livestock generally have higher insect abundances and shorter grass, which provide optimal foraging opportunities for Cowbirds (Morris and Thompson 1998). When livestock areas are closer to forest habitats, Cowbird abundance and parasitism on host nests are higher. Evidence that Cowbirds are actually responding to livestock is strong because these studies usually document and quantify the presence of livestock, and often report that cowbird feeding areas move with moving cattle (Goguen and Mathews 2001, Kostecke et al. 2003, Goguen and Mathews 1999, Purcell and Verner 1999).

Studies examining the influences of residential or agricultural areas on Cowbird distribution documented these land uses by quantifying the location and density of these cover types in the landscape. Residential and urban areas are generally areas of dense human development, while exurban areas consist of more isolated rural homes or farmsteads. Agricultural cover types may represent any tilled land or open areas such as pasture or hayfields, and often include farmsteads and outbuildings associated with agricultural lands. Cowbird abundance and parasitism are reported to be higher in forest habitats situated in landscapes with greater human development and agriculture. However, because these land uses are represented as cover types, it is less evident as to what aspects of the landscape Cowbirds are directly responding. For example, cowbirds may be responding positively to the presence of grazing livestock and preferred short-grass habitats often associated with agricultural areas, while not depending as much on cropland or other tilled lands that are included in that agriculture cover type. See Appendix 4 for a detailed list of citations for each of these land use metrics.

Impacted Habitat Resource: Habitat Quality - Cowbird Parasitism

Different from previously discussed Physical Impacts, the expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds into riparian habitats affects bird communities by changing the quality of the existing habitat, not the amount or physical attributes of available habitat. Cowbirds degrade existing riparian habitats by negatively impacting the reproductive success of songbird species (Tewksbury et al. 1998, Heath et al. 2010, Goguen and Mathews 2000, Stumpf et al. 2012). The impacts of cowbirds on the quality of riparian habitats are usually quantified by examining measures of Cowbird distribution or parasitism, specifically:

- 1) **Cowbird presence or abundance**: The presence of Cowbirds in riparian habitats provides evidence that parasitism is likely impacting habitat quality; higher Cowbird abundance may suggest that parasitism is having a greater impact.
- 2) Nest parasitism rates: The frequency of Cowbird parasitism for nests of host species monitored in a particular riparian bird community, measured either for one focal species or all host species combined.

Evidence exists for significant relationships between these metrics of habitat degradation and land use, suggesting that they are good indicators of the impacts of land use on the quality of riparian habitats in the West. See Appendix 4 for a detailed list of citations documenting these relationships.

These metrics of Cowbird distribution and parasitism are usually measured at a local scale, i.e. within a habitat patch or a study site. It may be possible to quantify potential habitat degradation at a landscape scale by identifying habitats that will likely have higher abundance or parasitism of Cowbirds. Cowbirds prefer to breed in forest habitats that are in close proximity to feeding sites (Table 5), and especially prefer riparian forest in the West (Tewksbury et al. 1999, Young and Hutto 1999, Chace 2004, Chace et al. 2005, Lynn et al. 1998). Consequently, the identification of riparian forest habitats that are close to land uses that provide Cowbird feeding sites may provide a metric for habitat degradation at a landscape scale.

Avian Responses to Cowbird Parasitism

The key avian response to habitat degradation caused by Cowbird parasitism is the **decreased reproductive success of host species** (Brittingham and Temple 1983, Robinson et al. 1995). This response is often difficult to quantify because methods for determining reproductive output are expensive and labor intensive. However, a few studies have measured reproductive output for particular host species in riparian areas in the West, and have provided evidence that parasitism can have a substantial negative effect. Compared with unparasitized nests, nests with Cowbirds often experience decreased fecundity due to declines in the number of natal young successfully fledged (Heath et al. 2010, Tewksbury et al. 1998). Furthermore, total nest loss can be greater due to nest abandonment after parasitism occurs, or predation of natal young by Cowbird adults or young (Goguen and Mathews 2000, Stumpf et al. 2012, Tewksbury et al. 1998).

Knowledge of this general avian response (i.e. lower reproductive output) provides understanding of how Cowbird parasitism directly influences bird species. The negative impacts of Cowbird parasitism may ultimately result in population declines for host species, and subsequent changes to characteristics of avian communities in degraded habitats (e.g. species richness). However, the consequences of habitat degradation on the composition of avian communities are difficult to generalize; a species may be present in a degraded habitat even when reproductive success is low (vanHorne 1983), and correlations between Cowbird parasitism and the distribution of host species are often not evident (Peterjohn et al. 2000, Chace et al. 2005). Therefore, quantifying changes in characteristics of avian communities in degraded habitats may not accurately measure the negative impacts of cowbird parasitism on riparian birds.

Summary of Impacts Related to the Expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds

Following is a summary of the key findings and relationships related to the effect of habitat degradation due to Cowbird parasitism in riparian habitats:

1) Livestock grazing and the expansion of agriculture and residential development in the riparian zone provide feeding sites for Cowbirds, and may result in increased Cowbird abundance in riparian forest habitat (i.e. preferred Cowbird breeding habitat) along the Yellowstone River.

- 2) Land use metrics correlated with Cowbird presence in riparian areas include the distance to and density of residential, agricultural, and livestock areas in the surrounding landscape.
- 3) The amount of habitat degradation caused by Cowbird parasitism is measured by the presence or abundance of Cowbirds in a given area, and rates of nest parasitism for species that are Cowbird hosts.
- 4) Potential landscape scale metrics of habitat degradation include the identification of preferred Cowbird breeding habitats that are in close proximity to Cowbird feeding sites.
- 5) Species that experience Cowbird parasitism are negatively impacted through reduced reproductive success; other characteristics of avian communities do not reflect the negative impacts of parasitism.

Relevance of Results to the Yellowstone River

Only a few studies examined the influences of Cowbirds on riparian communities along large rivers in Montana or bordering states. Tewksbury and others examined relationships between Cowbirds and landscape characteristics surrounding cottonwood gallery forest of the Bitterroot River in Montana (Tewksbury et al. 1998, 1999, 2006) and the Snake River in Idaho (Tewksbury et al. 2006). However, other studies are relevant to the Yellowstone River system because they were located in cottonwood dominated forests along large southwestern river systems (Sechrist and Ahlers 2003, Chace 2004, Sharp and Kus 2006, Brodhead et al. 2007). Results from these studies are especially informative because they consider habitats with similar vegetation species composition and structure, and often discuss bird species that also occur along the Yellowstone River.

Results from the YRCDC Avian Study provide further evidence for the relationships between land use drivers, habitat, and the distribution of Cowbirds (Jones and Hansen 2009). Along the Yellowstone River, Cowbirds were more often present in forest habitats than other habitat types, suggesting this may be preferred breeding habitat. They were documented at 74% of the cottonwood forest study sites along the river, compared with 33% of the grassland sites and 58% of the shrub sites. Highest Cowbird abundances were reported in the western reaches of the river, and abundance declined steadily downstream. Land use was an important factor influencing Cowbird abundance in cottonwood forest; Cowbird abundance was highest at cottonwood forest sites that were closer to human settlement. Human settlements were defined as all houses and outbuildings within the floodplain boundary, and were located using 2001 aerial photo imagery. Human settlements were generally located closer to riparian habitats, and at higher densities, in the western reaches of the river. The relationship between Cowbird abundance at cottonwood forest sites and the distance to the nearest crop field was also examined; this relationship was also negative, but the correlation was weak and not significant. Crop fields were defined as any irrigated field, and did not include dryland crops or pastures. Reproductive output for nests of host species was not measured during the YRCDC Avian Study.

Twenty-seven of the 64 species documented in riparian habitat along the Yellowstone River are Cowbird host species (Table 6). Of these host species, 14 may be especially vulnerable to the negative impacts of parasitism due to either declining population trends, their status as a species of general conservation concern, or their relatively exclusive use of riparian forest habitat (Table 6). American Redstarts, Common Yellowthroats, and Orchard Orioles may be at risk because they are all experiencing declining populations and are riparian obligate species, while Black-and-white Warblers are riparian obligates and a Potential Species of Concern. Of special consideration is the Ovenbird, a Potential Species of Concern that is a riparian obligate and is experiencing declining populations.

Cowbird Host Species	Sources	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
American Redstart	Sherry and Holmes 1997 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Hahn and Hatfield 1995	X		Х
Black-and-white Warbler	Kricher 1995 Hahn and Hatfield 1995		PSOC	X
Black-headed Grosbeak	Ortega and Hill 2010 Airola 1986 Heath et al. 2010			
Brewer's Blackbird	Martin 2002			
Clay-colored Sparrow	Grant and Knapton 2012	X		
Chipping Sparrow	Middleton 1998			
Common Yellowthroat	Guzy and Ritchison 1999 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Hahn and Hatfield 1995	X		Х
Dickcissel	Temple 2002		SOC	
Field Sparrow	Carey et al. 2008			
Grasshopper Sparrow	Vickery 1996			
Lark Sparrow	Martin and Parrish 2000			
Lazuli Bunting	Greene et al. 1996 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT)			
Least Flycatcher	Tarof and Briskie 2008			
Orchard Oriole	Scharf and Kren 2010	X		Х
Ovenbird	Porneluzi et al. 2011 Hahn and Hatfield 1995	X	PSOC	Х
Plumbeous Vireo	Goguen and Curson 2012 Chace et al. 2003 Airola 1986		PSOC	

Table 6. Yellowstone River bird species identified as Cowbird host species based on life-history characteristics and empirical studies, and conservation status for each species.

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Table 6 continued.

Cowbird Host Species	Sources	Declining Trend	Species of General Conservation Concern*	Riparian Obligate
Red-eyed Vireo	Cimprich et al. 2000 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Hahn and Hatfield 1995	X		
Red-winged Blackbird	Yasukawa and Searcy 1995			
Savannah Sparrow	Wheelright and Rising 2008			
Song Sparrow	Arcese et al. 2002 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Airola 1986 Heath et al. 2010 Purcell and Verner 1999 Hahn and Hatfield 1995			X
Spotted Towhee	Greenlaw 1996 Small 2005 Hahn and Hatfield 1995			
Vesper Sparrow	Jones and Cornely 2002	X		
Warbling Vireo	Gardali and Ballard 2000 Heath et al. 2010 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Airola 1986 Purcell and Verner 1999			
Western Meadowlark	Davis and Lanyon 2008	X		
Western Wood-pewee	Bemis and Rising 1999 Heath et al. 2010 Purcell and Verner 1999			
Yellow Warbler	Lowther et al. 1999 Tewksbury et al. 1999 (Bitterroot River, MT) Airola 1986 Heath et al. 2010 Purcell and Verner 1999 Hahn and Hatfield 1995 Tewksbury et al. 2006 (Bitterroot River, MT; Snake River, ID)			X
Yellow-breasted Chat	Eckerle and Thompson 2001			Х

* Species of general conservation concern are designated as either a Potential Species of Concern (PSOC) or a Species of Concern (SOC) by the Montana Natural Heritage Program (2013).

Potential Future Analyses of Avian-Habitat Relationships

This Physical Impact is unique in that much of the literature review was focused on relationships between land use drivers and the impacted habitat resource (i.e. habitat degradation from Cowbird parasitism) rather than avian-habitat relationships. With an underlying understanding of avian responses to Cowbird parasitism (i.e. lower reproductive ouput), metrics representing the distribution of Cowbirds will actually be most useful for understanding the potential impacts of land use on riparian bird communities.

Future analyses that examine relationships between land use variables and Cowbird distribution using data collected along the Yellowstone River may help to validate the relationships identified in the literature review. Avian data collected along the Yellowstone River measured Cowbird abundance, but not rates of parasitism. Cowbird abundance and rates of parasitism are often correlated (Borgmann and Morris 2010, Purcell and Verner 1999, Burhans and Thompson 2006; but see Chace et al. 2005), so measures of Cowbird abundance should be adequate for quantifying the potential impacts of land use on bird communities. Suggested analyses include the examination of relationships between Cowbird abundance and land use drivers that represent measures of human development, agriculture, and areas where livestock are present. Land use variables can be quantified using data from the Yellowstone River Land Use Mapping effort.

Riparian forest that is in close proximity to land uses that provide Cowbird feeding sites may represent a landscape scale metric of potentially degraded habitat (i.e. habitat that will likely have higher Cowbird abundance). The accuracy of this metric can be assessed using avian data that quantifies Cowbird abundance, and landscape scale habitat mapping data from the Riparian Mapping effort that identifies riparian habitat types. If Cowbird abundance is significantly higher in certain forest habitat types compared with other riparian habitats, then forest that is in close proximity to detrimental land uses may represent habitat potentially most degraded by Cowbird parasitism. See Table 7 for a description of the specific metrics and data available for these analyses. See Section '*Relevance Of Results To Cumulative Effects Analysis'* for a discussion of potential Cumulative Effects assessments.

Metric Type	Metric	Description of Metric (Data Source)
Habitat Resource	Cowbird abundance	Average abundance of Cowbirds (Avian Data)
Land Use Driver	Distance to or density of agriculture	Herbaceous cover type that is either irrigated or not irrigated (Riparian Mapping and Land Use Mapping)
Land Use Driver	Distance to or density of human development	Urban or exurban cover types, with particular emphasis on residential cover types (Land Use Mapping)
Land Use Driver	Distance to or density of farm infrastructure	Cover type representing agricultural infrastructure, such as farmsteads, outbuildings, feedlots, or corrals (Land Use Mapping)
Habitat Resource	Riparian habitat type	Delineation of riparian habitat types (open, closed timber, shrub) in the floodplain (Riparian Mapping)

Table 7. Specific metrics and data available for the examination of Yellowstone River avian-habitat relationships relevant to the expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds in riparian habitats.

PHYSICAL IMPACT: EXPANSION OF DETRIMENTAL SPECIES - INVASIVE COMPETITORS

Non-native bird species are often detrimental because they aggressively compete with native bird species for important resources, such as food and nest sites. The European Starling is a non-native species that is abundant in riparian habitats on the Yellowstone River, documented at over 50% of survey sites in cottonwood forest (Jones and Hansen 2009). Native to Europe and Asia and introduced to North America over 100 years ago, Starlings are now found throughout the continent. They forage in open country with short-grass habitat (e.g. grazed pasture, mowed lawns), and reach highest densities in agricultural areas and areas of human settlement (Cabe 1993). Starlings place their nests inside cavities in trees; they do not excavate their own nest holes, but instead either use existing cavities or usurp cavities from other birds that do excavate.

Starlings may have a detrimental effect on populations of native cavity-nesting species. They steal cavities from birds that have already initiated nesting; those individuals then have to find or excavate a new cavity and lay another clutch. Nests initiated later in the breeding season often suffer lower reproductive output (i.e. fewer eggs laid, lower nest survival; Ingold 1989, 1994, 1996, 1998, Wiebe 2003, Fisher and Wiebe 2006). Only a few studies have empirically assessed these potential negative impacts for individual species. Three studies quantified the negative impacts of Starling competition for Northern Flickers, a cavity-nesting species that is common in riparian habitats along the Yellowstone River. In those studied populations, 7% (Ingold 1989), 5-10% (Fisher and Wiebe 2006), and 68% (Ingold 1998) of Flicker nests were usurped by Starlings. Red-headed Woodpeckers, a cavity-nesting species found in riparian habitats of the lower reaches of the Yellowstone River, may also be negatively impacted by competition with Starlings. In two studies, 7-15% of Red-headed Woodpecker nests were stolen by Starlings, and reproductive output was lower for those individuals that re-nested as a result of usurpation (Ingold 1994, 1989). However, Red-headed Woodpeckers generally avoid large scale impacts of Starling competition because they initiate nesting later in the breeding season than do Starlings and other native cavity-nesting species (Cabe 1993).

Although reproductive output may be lower for individuals that experience competition with Starlings for nesting cavities, the overall impacts to native bird populations are not well-understood. Koenig (2003) used Breeding Bird Survey data to examine relationships between the invasion of Starlings across North America and population trends for native cavity-nesting species, and the analyses found no evidence for a negative effect of Starling competition on any species. Many factors may potentially influence the magnitude of the impact Starlings have on native bird species (e.g. the local availability of nest cavities or the abundance of native cavity-nesting species), and these impacts are difficult to generalize. Consequently, I will not expand further on the discussion of impacts or potential analyses for this Physical Impact. However, it is important to note that Red-headed Woodpeckers are a Species of Concern in Montana, and competition with Starlings has been suggested as a potential factor in their population declines (Smith et al. 2000).

PHYSICAL IMPACT: SPREAD OF INVASIVE PLANT SPECIES

Russian olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia*) and saltcedar (*Tamarix* spp.) are two of the most invasive exotic plants to become naturalized in riparian areas of the West. Russian olive trees have been planted as windbreaks in Montana since at least the 1950's (Lesica and Miles 2001), and Russian olive is now

distributed along the entire Yellowstone River, its tributaries, and most other major river systems in Montana (Combs and Potter 2011, Katz and Shafroth 2003). Saltcedar was first documented in Montana in the 1960's, and has since expanded along the Yellowstone River east of Big Timber, as well as along other major waterways in eastern Montana (Jacobs and Sing 2007, Grubb et al. 2010, Sexton et al. 2006). Both Russian olive and saltcedar have the potential to outcompete and replace native species, and consequently may alter the composition and structure of riparian plant communities (Grubb et al. 2010, Lesica and Miles 1999, Sexton et al. 2006). Habitats dominated by Russian olive and saltcedar may not provide the same food and nesting resources that are provided by native habitats, resulting in altered characteristics of bird communities and potential negative impacts for certain bird species. Following is a summary of the influences of Russian olive and saltcedar on native bird communities in riparian areas of the West.

Russian Olive

Relatively few studies have evaluated the effects of Russian olive expansion into riparian habitats on bird communities; 7 studies are included in this review. Russian olive is a tall shrub or small tree that grows in monotypic stands or in the understory of cottonwood forest (Lesica and Miles 1999). Structural complexity is greater in native cottonwood habitats compared with monotypic stands of Russian olive, with Russian olive stands providing less canopy cover and fewer large trees (Knopf and Olson 1984, Noson et al. 2008). Consequently, bird species richness and total bird abundance are often lower in stands of Russian olive when compared with native habitats (Knopf and Olson 1984, Yong and Finch 2002, Brown 1990, Noson et al. 2008, Slater 2006).

However, conclusions about the effects of Russian olive on characteristics of bird communities are often mixed. Cottonwood forest habitat with Russian olive present in the understory may provide equal or greater structural complexity than pure native stands (Yong and Finch 2002) and bird species richness is often higher in these habitats (Yong and Finch 2002, Slater 2006, Fischer et al. 2012). Furthermore, different species respond to the presence of Russian olive in different ways. Many species that forage and nest in the shrub strata of riparian forest, such as Yellow-breasted Chats, consistently use, and may even prefer, habitats with Russian olive (Stoleson and Finch 2001, Slater 2006, Noson et al. 2008). Conversely, riparian habitats dominated by Russian olive usually support fewer species that nest and forage in the canopy strata (Knopf and Olson 1984, Noson et al. 2008), and cavity-nesting and bark-gleaning species that depend upon large trees are consistently absent (Knopf and Olson 1984, Stoleson and Finch 2001, Noson et al. 2008, Slater 2006, Brown 1990. Fischer et al. 2012).

Information is not sufficient to assess whether native habitats offer higher quality breeding opportunities for riparian birds. Only one study investigated reproductive success in Russian olive habitats compared with native habitats, and no differences were evident (Stoleson and Finch 2001). Most riparian bird species are insectivorous, particularly during the breeding season when energy demands are highest, and food availability is a critical component of habitat quality. The presence of exotic plant species may alter characteristics of insect communities in riparian habitats. Limited information suggests that native cottonwood and willow may provide higher abundance and richness of insects than Russian olive (Yong and Crawford 1997, Pendleton et al. 2011), and in one study where foraging behavior was observed, omnivorous species were more abundant in Russian olive plants than

insectivores (Slater 2006).

Saltcedar

All of the studies reviewed that evaluated the impacts of saltcedar invasion on bird communities occurred in the southwestern US where saltcedar is a dominant component of riparian plant communities. Saltcedar is a tall shrub or small tree that usually establishes in monotypic stands on alluvial surfaces (Sexton et al. 2006). Habitats dominated by saltcedar lack large trees and high canopy cover, and are relatively structurally simple compared to native cottonwood forest (Shanahan et al. 2011, Brand et al. 2008, Slater 2006). Results from studies investigating the relationships between the presence of saltcedar and characteristics of bird communities are mixed (Sogge et al. 2008). Three studies reported higher bird species richness in native habitat compared with saltcedar (Brand et al. 2008, Anderson et al. 1977, VanRiper et al. 2008), while four studies reported no differences or higher richness in saltcedar habitats (Shanahan et al. 2011, Ellis 1995, Hunter et al. 1988, Fleishman et al. 2003). However, more unique, riparian specialist species were reported using native habitats than habitats dominated by saltcedar (Brand et al. 2008, Ellis 1995, Hunter et al. 1988), and cavity-nesting species were consistently absent from saltcedar stands (Anderson et al. 1977, Ellis 1995, Slater 2006).

As with Russian olive, information about whether native habitats offer higher quality breeding opportunities for riparian birds is sparse. The breeding ecology of the federally endangered Southwestern Willow Flycatcher has been studied extensively in saltcedar habitats, and few negative impacts on reproductive success are evident (Sogge et al. 2008). Brand et al. (2010) reported that breeding success was higher for shrub-nesting insectivores in native habitat compared with saltcedar, but no differences were observed for other species. However, habitat quality may be negatively impacted through the reduced availability of food resources; saltcedar often provides less diverse and abundant insect communities than native riparian habitats (Shanahan et al. 2011, Durst et al. 2008, Pendleton et al. 2011, DeLay et al. 1999; but see Mund-Meyerson 1998, Ellis et al. 2000).

Relevance to the Yellowstone River

Little information exists about the impacts of invasive plants on riparian bird communities along the Yellowstone River. During the YRCDC Avian Study (Jones and Hansen 2009), Russian olive was documented as a dominant component of the understory in cottonwood forest habitats. Limited analyses were conducted evaluating relationships between the density of Russian olive and various bird community characteristics. There was no evidence for an effect of Russian olive density on bird species richness. The abundances of three individual bird species were negatively correlated with Russian olive density, but abundances for these species were also negatively correlated with the density of tall native shrubs, suggesting a response to habitat structure in general, and not Russian olive specifically. Few saltcedar habitats were sampled during the YRCDC Avian Study, and consequently no analyses were conducted evaluating the influences of saltcedar on bird communities.

Few data exist for quantifying relationships between the spread of invasive plant species and riparian bird communities along the Yellowstone River. The distribution of Russian olive was mapped for all counties along the river corridor (Combs and Potter 2011), but this dataset represents only monotypic stands and not Russian olive growing in the understory of cottonwood forest, which is a significant component of riparian habitat for birds (Jones and Hansen 2009). Saltcedar has been mapped for part

of the corridor, but extensive mapping efforts have not yet been completed. Consequently, I will not expand further on the discussion of impacts or potential future analyses for this Physical Impact.

However, it is important to emphasize that the invasion of Russian olive and saltcedar in riparian areas of western rivers is potentially enhanced when natural hydrologic regimes are altered. Both species are better adapted than native riparian plants to establish and reproduce in conditions where flood disturbance is minimized (Katz and Shafroth 2003, Sexton et al. 2006, Glenn and Nagler 2005). Consequently, the construction of armor along the banks of the Yellowstone River for the protection of particular land uses could enhance conditions for the spread of these exotic species by restricting natural channel migration and decreasing the area of the floodplain impacted by flooding. Furthermore, studies reported that cavity-nesting species were consistently absent from stands of both Russian olive and saltcedar. The replacement of native cottonwood communities along the Yellowstone River would almost certainly be detrimental for these native bird species. This is an important consideration for Red-headed Woodpeckers, a Species of Concern in Montana that depends upon large cottonwood trees for foraging and nesting habitat (Slater 2006, Gutzwiller and Anderson 1987, Smith et al. 2000).

PHYSICAL IMPACT: DIRECT ADULT OR NEST MORTALITY

Land use within the riparian zone of the Yellowstone River may cause direct mortality to birds and nests, resulting in the degradation of riparian habitats. Agricultural practices such as mowing of riparian lowland hayfields and application of pesticides that filter into riparian habitats may alter quality of habitat for riparian bird species.

Mowing

The mowing of hayfields in the riparian zone may be detrimental to riparian bird populations if it occurs during the breeding season. Many grassland-dependent riparian bird species use hayfields as crucial breeding habitat from late May to early July in Montana. Nests in hayfields are located on the ground, so that nests and birds are extremely susceptible to mortality from mowing machines (McMaster et al. 2005, Perlut et al. 2006, Dale et al. 1997, Nocera et al. 2005, Bollinger et al. 1990). Furthermore, nests that are not destroyed are usually more exposed after mowing, often leading to abandonment and increased risk of predation (Bollinger et al. 1990). Consequently, mowing of hayfields during the breeding season results in lower reproductive output (Gruebler et al. 2012, Kruk et al. 1997, Perlut et al. 2006, Broyer 2011, Bollinger et al. 1990) and increased adult and juvenile mortality (Gruebler et al. 2008, Bollinger et al. 1990), and many species experience declines in abundance at a site after mowing has occurred (Frawley and Best 1991).

Negative impacts to grassland-dependent birds may have increased in recent decades due to changes in agricultural practices that have resulted in earlier and more frequent mowing of hayfields (Rodenhouse et al. 1993). Renesting after initial nest failure from mowing is often unsuccessful because the interval between mowing cycles is too short to accommodate the nesting period length of most bird species (Bollinger et al. 1990, Perlut et al. 2006). Earlier and more frequent mowing of hayfields has been correlated with population declines of many grassland species (Gruebler et al. 2008, Bollinger et al. 1990, Peterjohn and Sauer 1999, Perlut et al. 2008, Herkert 1997).

Relatively few studies have specifically examined the effects of mowing on birds, and none of the studies included in this review were located in the West. However, those studies that do exist have demonstrated significant negative effects of mowing on riparian grassland bird communities. Many of the species impacted by mowing in other regions of North America have been documented using riparian habitats along the Yellowstone River. For example, Savannah Sparrows, recorded at 40% of riparian grassland sites sampled along the Yellowstone River (Jones and Hansen 2009), have been reported to suffer severe nest loss (99%; Perlut et al. 2006) and significantly reduced reproductive output (80% decline; Dale et al. 1997) after mowing occurred in hayfields used as breeding habitat. Similarly, Boblinks have been reported to experience total nest failure and high rates of juvenile mortality as a result of mowing (Perlut et al. 2006, Bollinger et al. 1990). There is evidence that populations of both species are significantly influenced by the effects of lower productivity and high mortality from mowing (Perlut et al. 2008, Bollinger et al. 1990). For Bobolinks, mowing results in rates of reproductive output that are low enough to cause population declines (Bollinger et al. 1990, Perlut et al. 2008).

No data exist for quantifying relationships between mowing and grassland bird communities along the Yellowstone River. Consequently, I will not expand further on the discussion of impacts or potential future analyses for this Physical Impact. However, mowing of riparian habitats along the Yellowstone River could be detrimental for many species of grassland birds that depend upon these habitats for breeding. Potential impacts to Bobolinks, a Species of Concern in Montana that depends upon lowland riparian grasslands and hayfields, deserve special consideration. Mowing during the breeding season has been suggested as one of the most important factors influencing population declines for this species (Herkert 1997).

Pesticide and Herbicide Use

The application of pesticides and herbicides to agricultural fields potentially impacts riparian bird populations in many ways. Direct mortality or physiological impairment may occur when birds ingest toxic levels of pesticides, and the application of pesticides may negatively impact survival and reproductive output by reducing the abundance of food resources (Gard and Hooper 1995, Gard et al. 1993, Hart et al. 2006). Herbicides are generally non-toxic to birds, but may impact some species through the alteration of habitat and food resources (Morrison and Meslow 1983).

Very little information is available that describes the effects of pesticides on populations of wild birds, particularly migratory songbirds that are generally of greatest conservation and management concern (Gard and Hooper 1995). Existing studies report varying impacts based on the type of pesticide, amounts ingested by individual birds, and the species of bird affected, and are focused on farmland birds that nest and forage in cropland, not riparian habitats. It is unclear to what degree pesticides get disseminated into riparian habitats from agricultural crops. Consequently, it is difficult to identify general relationships that may exist between the use of agricultural pesticides and riparian bird communities that may be relevant to the Yellowstone River, and I will not discuss potential future analyses for this Physical Impact.

RELEVANCE OF RESULTS TO CUMULATIVE EFFECTS ANALYSIS

Knowledge about the relationships between land use drivers, habitat resources, and avian communities

allows for inference about how characteristics of land use and habitat potentially impact riparian birds along the Yellowstone River. If relationships discussed in the literature review are validated using land use, habitat, and avian data collected along the Yellowstone River, greater confidence is provided for results and conclusions from Cumulative Effects analyses. Table 8 summarizes the relationships identified between land use drivers, habitat resources, and avian communities for the three main Physical Impacts, as well as the metrics available for quantifying these relationships at the reach scale. Eventually, knowledge of these relationships will facilitate the incorporation of impacts to bird communities into Cumulative Effects analyses.

The four focal avian Species of Concern were impacted by land use and changes to habitat resources in various ways. Below is a summary of impacts for each species. Additionally, Table 9 includes a summary of reach-scale metrics of habitat change that are important for each species and that may be especially relevant for Cumulative Effects analysis.

Black-billed Cuckoo

Black-billed Cuckoo's depend upon relatively large tracts of riparian forest with a dense understory shrub layer, and are a forest specialist and understory specialist species. Cuckoos are potentially negatively impacted by the **construction of bank armor**, **livestock grazing**, and the **conversion of riparian habitat to agriculture** that result in the fragmentation and loss of forest habitat and a decline in structurally complex forest habitats. Cuckoo's were identified as a species that would be potentially impacted by two of the three main Physical Impacts, suggesting that Cuckoo's may deserve special consideration when assessing Cumulative Effects on riparian birds.

Bobolink

Boblinks are a grassland dependent species that nests in riparian meadows and hayfields. Along the Yellowstone River, this species is potentially negatively impacted by riparian management activities that include **mowing of meadows and hayfields** during the breeding season (late May to early July). Furthermore, throughout their range Bobolinks are significantly impacted by the conversion of riparian grassland habitats to more intensive land uses (e.g. cropland; Dechant et al. 2003, Martin and Gavin 1995).

Red-headed Woodpecker

Red-headed Woodpeckers depend upon riparian forest with large trees and snags. In riparian habitats of the Yellowstone River, this species is possibly negatively impacted by the **expansion of European Starlings, an invasive species** that competes with native woodpeckers for nesting sites and is associated with agricultural and residential areas. Furthermore, Red-headed Woodpeckers are potentially impacted by the **introduction and expansion of invasive plant communities** that do not provide the large trees and snags needed for nesting. Across its range, the single most important management issue for this species is the retention of habitat that contains large live and standing dead trees (Smith et al. 2000).

Least Tern

None of the Physical Impacts discussed in this review were relevant to Least Terns. However, changes in habitat and food availability along rivers used by Least Terns have been suggested as main factors in

the decline of this species (Atkinson and Dood 2006). Least Terns nest on unvegetated sandbars and shorelines, and forage on small fish in shallow water habitats. Breeding Least Terns have been documented along the Yellowstone River downstream from Miles City. Major threats to breeding habitat include **channelization and bank stabilization** projects that contribute to the loss and degradation of sandbars and shorelines used for nesting, and shallow, slow-velocity aquatic habitats used for foraging.

Physical Impact	Land Use Drivers and Impacts to Habitat Resources	Reach-Scale Metrics of Land Use Drivers	Reach-Scale Metrics of Impacted Habitat Resources	Relationships between Habitat Resources and Avian Community	Reach-Scale Metrics of Avian Responses
Loss of cottonwood forest habitat	Conversion of riparian habitat to agricultural land uses reduces the area of cottonwood forest habitat Livestock grazing of cottonwood seedlings leads to long-term declines in cottonwood regeneration and reduces the area of forest habitat The construction of armor along the banks of the river restricts natural channel migration and decreases riparian turnover and the creation of new forest habitat	Total and % area of agricultural land usesTotal and % area of riparian forest habitat converted to agricultural land usesNo data available to quantify livestock grazing intensity in riparian habitatsTotal length and % of physical features, length and % of features protecting different land usesTotal and % area restricted by physical featuresBraiding parameterAcres of in-channel gravel bars (per river mile)	Total area of closed and open timber Average and maximum patch size of closed and open timber Average width of riparian forest on each side of the river Area of riparian turnover (woody vegetation to channel and vice versa)	 Avian responses negatively correlated with decreasing area of forest cover, forest width, and patch size: Total species richness Species richness and abundance of forest specialist species Abundances of individual forest specialist species, including these species of conservation concern: American Redstart (declining population, riparian obligate) Black-capped Chickadee, Red-eyed Vireo (declining populations) Black-and-white Warbler (Montana Potential Species of Concern, riparian obligate) Gray Catbird, Yellow Warbler (riparian obligates) Ovenbird (declining population, Montana Potential Species of Concern, riparian obligate) 	Average species richness and average richness of forest species for cottonwood forest sites sampled in the reach or region Occurrence of individual forest specialist species of conservation concern observed in the reach or region, % of sites where observed

Table 8. Relationships and reach-scale metrics identified for land use drivers, habitat resources, and avian responses for the three focal Physical Impacts reviewed in the literature assessment. The four focal Species of Concern are emphasized in bold type.

Table 8 continued.

Physical Impact	Land Use Drivers and Impacts to Habitat Resources	Reach-Scale Metrics of Land Use Drivers	Reach-Scale Metrics of Impacted Habitat Resources	Relationships between Habitat Resources and Avian Community	Reach-Scale Metrics of Avian Responses
Loss of structurally complex forest habitat	Livestock grazing in cottonwood forest leads to a decline in the density of understory and midstory vegetation, and results in more structurally simple forest habitat The construction of armor along the banks of the river restricts natural channel migration, decreases riparian turnover, and leads to a loss of structurally complex early and mid-successional cottonwood forest habitat types in the floodplain	No data available to quantify livestock grazing intensity in riparian habitats Total length and % of physical features, length and % of features protecting different land uses Total and % area restricted by physical features Braiding parameter Acres of in-channel gravel bars (per river mile)	Total area of closed (structurally complex) and open (structurally simple) timber Area of riparian turnover (woody vegetation to channel and vice versa)	 Avian responses that experience declines with the loss of structural complexity of riparian forest habitat: Total species richness Species richness and abundance of understory specialist species Abundances of individual understory specialist species, including these species of conservation concern: American Redstart, Common Yellowthroat (declining populations, riparian obligates) Gray Catbird, Song Sparrow, Yellow Warbler, Yellow- breasted Chat (riparian obligates) Black-billed Cuckoo (declining population, Montana Species of Concern, riparian obligate, Partners in Flight Watchlist Species) 	Average species richness and average richness of understory species for cottonwood forest sites sampled in the reach or region Occurrence of individual understory specialist species of conservation concern observed in the reach or region, % of sites where observed

Table 8 continued.

Physical Impact	Land Use Drivers and Impacts to Habitat Resources	Reach-Scale Metrics of Land Use Drivers	Reach-Scale Metrics of Impacted Habitat Resources	Relationships between Habitat Resources and Avian Community	Reach-Scale Metrics of Avian Responses
Expansion of detrimental species: Brown- headed Cowbirds	Presence of livestock results in an increase in cowbird feeding opportunities close to the riparian zone, and a subsequent increase in the abundance of cowbirds in riparian habitats Presence of residential areas results in an increase in cowbird feeding opportunities associated with lawns, corrals, and other open habitats, and a subsequent increase in the abundance of cowbirds in nearby riparian habitats Presence of agricultural lands and associated farmsteads and infrastructure results in an increase in cowbird feeding sites, and a subsequent increase in the abundance of cowbirds in an increase in the abundance of cowbirds in nearby riparian habitats	Total and % area or density of agricultural infrastructure Total and % area of non-irrigated herbaceous cover type (i.e. potential pastureland) Total and % area or density of agricultural infrastructure (i.e. residential farmsteads) % area or density of urban and exurban residential cover types % area irrigated and non-irrigated herbaceous cover type % area or density of agricultural infrastructure	Total area of riparian forest (closed and open timber) within 1 kilometer of particular land use drivers Average cowbird abundance in riparian forest	 Avian species that may be most negatively impacted by cowbird parasitism: These cowbird host species of conservation concern: American Redstart, Common Yellowthroat, Orchard Oriole (declining populations, riparian obligates) Song Sparrow, Yellow Warbler, Yellow- breasted Chat (riparian obligates) Clay-colored Sparrow, Red-eyed Vireo, Vesper Sparrow, Western Meadowlark (declining populations) Dickcissel, Plumbeous Vireo (Montana Potential Species of Concern) Black-and-white Warbler (Montana Potential Species of Concern, riparian obligate) Ovenbird (declining population, Montana Potential Species of Concern, riparian obligate) 	Average richness of cowbird host species for cottonwood forest sites sampled in the reach or region Occurrence of individual cowbird host species of conservation concern observed in the reach or region, % of sites where observed

Table 9. Reach-scale metrics of habitat change that are important for each of the focal species of concern, and Yellowstone River reaches where they were documented during the Avian Study conducted in 2006 and 2007 (Jones and Hansen 2009).

Species of Concern	Reach-Scale Metric of Habitat Change (Data Source)	River Reaches Where Species Documented During Avian Study
Black-billed Cuckoo	Total and percent area closed canopy forest; average, minimum, maximum patch size for closed canopy forest (Riparian mapping)	B1, D12
Bobolink	Area of agricultural land converted from hayland/pasture to irrigated or tilled (Land use mapping)	A7, A11, A17, C7, C9, D12
Red-headed Woodpecker	Total and percent area closed canopy and open canopy forest (Riparian mapping)	B7, B8, C3, C7, C9, D5, D10, D11, D12
Least Tern	Braiding parameter, acres of in-channel gravel or sandbars per river mile, presence of side channels (Geomorphology)	Not sampled during Avian Study; Documented at various reaches downstream of Miles City in Atkinson and Dood (2006)

LITERATURE CITED

Airola, D.A. 1986. Brown-headed cowbird parasitism and habitat disturbance in the Sierra Nevada. Journal of Wildlife Management 50:571-575.

Ammon, E.M, and P.B. Stacey. 1997. Avian nest success in relation to past grazing regimes in a montane riparian system. Condor 99:7-13.

Anderson, B.W., A. Higgins, and R.D. Ohmart. 1977. Avian use of saltcedar communities in the lower Colorado River valley. p. 116-123. *In* R.R. Johnson, and D.A. Jones (Eds.), Importance, preservation, and management of riparian habitat: A symposium. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-43.

Anderson, B.W., and R.D. Ohmart. 1977. Vegetation structure and bird use in the lower Colorado River valley. p. 23-34. *In* R.R. Johnson, and D.A. Jones (Eds.), Importance, preservation, and management of riparian habitat: A symposium. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-43.

Arcese, P., M.K. Sogge, A.B. Marr, and M.A. Patten. 2002. Song Sparrow (*Melospiza melodia*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/704.

Atkinson, S.J., and A.R. Dood. 2006. Montana Interior Least Tern management plan. Montana Department of Fish, Wildlife and Parks, Bozeman, MT.

Bemis, C., and J.D. Rising. 1999. Western Wood-Pewee (*Contopus sordidulus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/451.

Bock, C.E., V.A. Saab, T.D. Rich, and D.S. Dobkin. 1993. Effects of livestock grazing on Neotropical migratory landbirds in western North America. p. 296-309. *In* D.M. Finch, and P.W. Stangel (Eds.), Status and management of Neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-229.

Boggs, K., and T. Weaver. 1994. Changes in vegetation and nutrient pools during riparian succession. Wetlands 14:98-109.

Bollinger, E.K., P.B. Bollinger, and T.A. Gavin. 1990. Effect of hay-cropping on eastern populations of the boblink. Wildlife Society Bulletin 18:142-150.

Borgmann, K.L., and M.L. Morrison. 2010. Factors influencing the frequency of nest parasitism by brown-headed cowbirds in the northern Sierra Nevada. Western North American Naturalist 70:137–143.

Brand, L.A., G.C. White, and B.R. Noon. 2008. Factors influencing species richness and community composition of breeding birds in a desert riparian corridor. Condor 110:199–210.

Brand, L.A., J.C. Stromberg, and B.R. Noon. 2010. Avian density and nest survival on the San Pedro River: Importance of vegetation type and hydrologic regime. Journal of Wildlife Management 74:739-754.

Brittingham, M., and S. Temple. 1983. Have cowbirds caused forest songbirds to decline? BioScience 33:31-15.

Broadhead, K.M., S.H. Stoleson, and D.M. Finch. 2007. Southwestern willow flycatchers (*Empidonax trailli extimus*) in a grazed landscape: Factors influencing brood parasitism. Auk 124:1213-1228.

Brown, C.R. 1990. Avian use of native and exotic riparian habitats on the Snake River, Idaho. Thesis (M.S.), Colorado State University, Fort Collins, CO.

Broyer, J. 2011. Long-term effects of agri-environment schemes on breeding passerine populations in a lowland hay-meadow system. Bird Study 58:141-150.

Burhans, D.E., and F.R. Thompson, III. 2006. Songbird abundance and parasitism differ between urban and rural shrublands. Ecological Applications 16:394-405.

Cabe, P.R. 1993. European Starling (*Sturnus vulgaris*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/048.

Carey, M., M. Carey, D.E. Burhans, and D.A. Nelson. 2008. Field Sparrow (*Spizella pusilla*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/103.

Cavitt, J.F., and T.E. Martin. 2002. Effects of forest fragmentation on brood parasitism and nest predation in eastern and western landscapes. Studies in Avian Biology 25:73-80.

Chace, J.F. 2004. Habitat selection by sympatric brood parasites in southeastern Arizona: The influence of landscape, vegetation, and species richness. Southwestern Naturalist 49:24-32.

Chace, J.F., J.J. Walsh, A. Cruz, J.W. Prather, and H.M. Swanson. 2003. Spatial and temporal activity patterns of the brood parasitic brown-headed cowbird at an urban/wildland interface. Landscape and Urban Planning 64:179–190.

Chace, J.F., C. Farmer, R. Winfree, D.R. Curson, W.E. Jensen, C.B. Goguen, and S.K. Robinson. 2005. Cowbird (*Molothrus* spp.) ecology: A review of factors influencing distribution and abundance of cowbirds across spatial scales. p. 45-50. *In* C.P. Ortega, J.F. Chace, and B.D. Peer (Eds.), Management of cowbirds and their hosts: Balancing science, ethics, and mandates. Ornithological Monographs 57.

Cimprich, D.A., F.R. Moore, and M.P. Guilfoyle. 2000. Red-eyed Vireo (*Vireo olivaceus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/527.

Cody, M.L. 1981. Habitat selection in birds: The roles of vegetation structure, competitors, and productivity. Bioscience 31:107-113.

Coker, D.R., and D.E. Capen. 1995. Landscape-level habitat use by brown-headed cowbirds in Vermont. Journal of Wildlife Management 59:631-637.

Combs, J., and T. Potter. 2011. Russian olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia* L.) distribution mapping for the Yellowstone River and tributaries using feature analysis software, and exension for ArcMap. USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. Invasive Species Technical Note MT-31 (Rev. 1).

Conner, R.N., J.G. Dickson, J.H. Williamson, and B. Ortego. 2004. Width of forest streamside zones and breeding bird abundance in eastern Texas. Southeastern Naturalist 3:669-682.

Cooke, H.A., and S. Zack. 2008. Influence of beaver dam density on riparian areas and riparian birds in shrubsteppe of Wyoming. Western North American Naturalist 68:365-373.

Cooke, H.A., and S. Zack. 2009. Use of standardized visual assessments of riparian and stream condition to manage riparian bird habitat in eastern Oregon. Environmental Management 44:173–184.

Dale, B.C., P.A. Martin, and P.S. Taylor. 1997. Effects of hay management on grassland songbirds in Saskatchewan. Wildlife Society Bulletin 25:616-626.

Davidson, A.S., and R.L. Knight. 2001. Avian nest success and community composition in a western riparian forest. Journal of Wildlife Management 65:334-344.

Davis, S.K., and W.E. Lanyon. 2008. Western Meadowlark (*Sturnella neglecta*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/104.

Dechant, J.A., M.L. Sondreal, D.H. Johnson, L.D. Igl, C.M. Goldade, A.L. Zimmerman, and B.R. Euliss. 2003. Effects of management practices on grassland birds: Bobolink. Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, Jamestown, ND.

http://www.npwrc.usgs.gov/resource/literatr/grasbird/bobo/bobo.htm.

DeLay, L., D.M. Finch, S. Brantley, R. Fagerlund, M.D. Means, and J.F. Kelly. 1999. Arthropods of native and exotic vegetation and their association with willow flycatchers and Wilson's warblers. p. 216-221. *In* D.M. Finch, J.C. Whitney, J.F. Kelly, and S.R. Loftin (Eds.), Rio Grande ecosystems: Linking land, water, and people. Toward a sustainable future for the Middle Rio Grande Basin. June 2-5, 1998, Albuquerque, NM. USDA Forest Service Proceedings RMRS-P-7.

Dickson, B.G., E. Fleishman, D.S. Dobkin, and S.R. Hurteau. 2009. Relationship between avifaunal occupancy and riparian vegetation in the central Great Basin (Nevada, U.S.A). Restoration Ecology 17:722-730.

Dobkin, D.S., and B.A. Wilcox. 1986. Analysis of natural forest fragments: Riparian birds in the Toiyabe Mountains, Nevada. p. 293-299. *In* J. Verner, M.L. Morrison, and C.J. Ralph (Eds.), Wildlife 2000: Modeling habitat relationships of terrestrial vertebrates. University of Wisconsin Press, Madison, WI.

Donovan, T.M., F.R. Thompson, III, J. Faaborg, and J.R. Probst. 1995. Reproductive success of Neotropical migrant birds in habitat sources and sinks. Conservation Biology 9:1380-1395.

Donovan, T.M., F.R. Thompson, III, and J.R. Faaborg. 2000. Cowbird distribution at different scales of fragmentation: Trade-offs between breeding and feeding opportunities. p. 255-264. *In* J.N.M. Smith, T.L. Cook, S.I. Rothstein, S.K. Robinson, and S.G. Sealy (Eds.), Ecology and management of cowbirds and their hosts. University of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

DTM Consulting, Inc. 2008. Yellowstone River riparian vegetation mapping. Bozeman, MT.

DTM Consulting, Inc. 2013. Yellowstone River land use mapping and analysis. Final Report. Bozeman, MT.

DTM Consulting, Inc., and Applied Geomorphology, Inc. 2007. Work Order #3: Geomorphic parameters and GIS development, Yellowstone River. Bozeman, MT.

Durst, S.L., T.C. Theimer, E.H. Paxton, and M.K. Sogge. 2008. Temporal variation in the arthropod community of desert riparian habitats with varying amounts of saltcedar (*Tamarix ramosissima*). Journal of Arid Environments 72:1644-1653.

Earnst, S.L., J.A. Ballard, and D.S. Dobkin. 2005. Riparian songbird abundance a decade after cattle removal on Hart Mountain and Sheldon National Wildlife Refuges. p. 550-558. *In* C.J. Ralph, and T.D. Rich (Eds.), Bird conservation implementation and integration in the Americas: Proceedings of the third international Partners in Flight conference. March 20-24, 2002, Asilomar, CA. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report PSW-191.

Earnst, S.L., D.S. Dobkin, and J.A. Ballard. 2012. Changes in avian and plant communities of aspen woodlands over 12 years after livestock removal in the northwestern Great Basin. Conservation Biology 26:862–872.

Eckerle, K.P., and C.F. Thompson. 2001. Yellow-breasted Chat (*Icteria virens*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/575.

Eggers, M.J.S. 2005. Riparian vegetation of the Montana Yellowstone and cattle grazing impacts thereon. Thesis (M.S.), Montana State University, Bozeman, MT.

Ellis, L.M. 1995. Bird use of saltcedar and cottonwood vegetation in the middle Rio Grande valley of New Mexico, USA. Journal of Arid Environments 30:339-349.

Ellis, L.M., M.C. Molles, Jr., C.S. Crawford, and F. Heinzelmann. 2000. Surface-active arthropod communities in native and exotic riparian vegetation in the Middle Rio Grande valley, New Mexico. Southwestern Naturalist 45:456-471.

Faaborg, J. 2002. Saving migrant birds: Developing strategies for the future. University of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

Farley, G.H., L.M. Ellis, J.N. Stuart, and N.J. Scott, Jr. 1994. Avian species richness in different-aged stands of riparian forest along the Middle Rio Grande, New Mexico. Conservation Biology 8:1098-1108.

Finch, D.M. 1989. Habitat use and habitat overlap of riparian birds in three elevational zones. Ecology 70:866-880.

Fischer, R.A., J.J. Valente, M.P. Guilfoyle, M.D. Kaller, S.S. Jackson, and J.T. Ratti. 2012. Bird community response to vegetation cover and composition in riparian habitats dominated by Russian olive (*Elaeagnus angustifolia*). Northwest Science 86:39-52.

Fisher, R.J., and K.L. Wiebe. 2006. Nest site attributes and temporal patterns of northern flicker nest loss: Effects of predation and competition. Oecologia 147:744-753.

Fleishman, E., N. McDonal, R. MacNally, D.D. Murphy, J. Walters, and T. Floyd. 2003. Effects of floristics, physiognomy and non-native vegetation on riparian bird communities in a Mojave Desert

watershed. Journal of Animal Ecology 72:484-490.

Fletcher, R.J., Jr. 2009. Does attraction to conspecifics explain the patch-size effect? An experimental test. Oikos 118:1139-1147.

Fletcher, R.J., Jr., and R.L. Hutto. 2008. Partitioning the multi-scale effects of human activity on the occurrence of riparian forest birds. Landscape Ecology 23:727–739.

Frawley, B.J., and L.B. Best. 1991. Effects of mowing on breeding bird abundance and species composition in alfalfa fields. Wildlife Society Bulletin 19:135-142.

Galli, A.E., C.F. Leck, and R.T.T. Forman. 1976. Avian distribution patterns in forest islands of different sizes in central New Jersey. Auk 93:356-364.

Gard, N.W., and M.J. Hooper. 1995. An assessment of potential hazards of pesticides and environmental contaminants. p.294-310 *In* T.E. Martin, and D.M. Finch (Eds.), Ecology and management of Neotropical migratory birds: A synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

Gard, N.W., M.J. Hooper, and R.S. Bennett. 1993. Effects of pesticides and contaminants on Neotropical migrants. p. 310-314. *In* D.M. Finch, and P.W. Stangel (Eds.), Status and management of Neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-229.

Gardali, T., and G. Ballard. 2000. Warbling Vireo (*Vireo gilvus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/551.

Gentry, D.J., D.L. Swanson, and J.D. Carlisle. 2006. Species richness and nesting success of migrant forest birds in natural river corridors and anthropogenic woodlands in southeastern South Dakota. Condor 108:140-153.

Gergel, S.E., M.G. Turner, J.R. Miller, J.M. Melack, and E.H. Stanley. 2002. Landscape indicators of human impacts to riverine systems. Aquatic Sciences 64:118-128.

Glenn, E.P., and P.L. Nagler. 2005. Comparative ecophysiology of *Tamarix ramosissima* and native trees in western US riparian zones. Journal of Arid Environments 61:419-446.

Goguen, C.B., and D.R. Curson. 2012. Plumbeous Vireo (*Vireo plumbeus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/366.

Goguen, C.B., and N.E. Mathews. 1999. Review of the causes and implications of the association between cowbirds and livestock. Studies in Avian Biology 18:10-17.

Goguen, C.B., and N.E. Mathews. 2000. Local gradients of cowbird abundance and parasitism relative

to livestock grazing in a western landscape. Conservation Biology 14:1862-1869.

Goguen, C.B., and N.E. Mathews. 2001. Brown-headed cowbird behavior and movements in relation to livestock grazing. Ecological Applications 11:1533-1544.

Grant, T.A., and R.W. Knapton. 2012. Clay-colored Sparrow (*Spizella pallida*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/120.

Greene, E., V.R. Muehter, and W. Davison. 1996. Lazuli Bunting (*Passerina amoena*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/232.

Greenlaw, J.S. 1996. Spotted Towhee (*Pipilo maculatus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/263.

Groom, J.D., and T.C. Grubb, Jr. 2002. Bird species associated with riparian woodland in fragmented, temperate-deciduous forest. Conservation Biology 16:832–836.

Grubb, R.T., R.L. Sheley, R.D. Carlstrom, J. Mangold, and E. Lehnhoff. 2010. Saltcedar (Tamarisk). Montana State University Extension, Bozeman, MT. MontGuide MT199710AG.

Gruebler, M.U., H. Schuler, M. Muller, R. Spaar, P. Horch, and B. Naef-Daenzer. 2008. Female biased mortality caused by anthropogenic nest loss contributes to population decline and adult sex ratio of a meadow bird. Biological Conservation 141:3040-3049.

Gruebler, M.U., H. Schuler, P. Horch, and R. Spaar. 2012. The effectiveness of conservation measures to enhance nest survival in a meadow bird suffering from anthropogenic nest loss. Biological Conservation 146:197-203.

Gutzwiller, K.J., and S.H. Anderson. 1987. Multiscale associations between cavity-nesting birds and features of Wyoming streamside woodlands. Condor 89:534-548.

Guzy, M.J., and G. Ritchison. 1999. Common Yellowthroat (*Geothlypis trichas*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/448.

Hahn, D.C., and J.S. Hatfield. 1995. Parasitism at the landscape scale: Cowbirds prefer forests. Conservation Biology 9:1415-1424.

Hansen, A., J. Rotella, L. Klaas, and D. Gryskiewicz. 2003. Riparian habitat dynamics and wildlife along the Upper Yellowstone River. Ecology Department, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT.

Hansen, P.L., R.D. Pfister, K. Boggs, B.J. Cook, J. Joy, and D.K. Hinckley. 1995. Classification and

management of Montana's riparian and wetland sites. Montana Forest and Conservation Experiment Station, School of Forestry, The University of Montana, Missoula, MT. Miscellaneous Publication 54.

Hart, J.D., T.P. Milsom, G. Fisher, V. Wilkins, S.J. Moreby, A.W.A. Murray, and P.A. Robertson. 2006. The relationship between yellowhammer breeding performance, arthropod abundance and insecticide applications on arable farmland. Journal of Applied Ecology 43:81-91.

Heath, S.K., L.A. Culp, and C.A. Howell. 2010. Brood parasitism and nest survival of brown-headed cowbird hosts at high-elevation riparian sites in the eastern Sierra Nevada, California. Western North American Naturalist 70:364–376.

Heltzel, J.M., and S.L. Earnst. 2006. Factors influencing nest success of songbirds in aspen and willow riparian areas in the Great Basin. Condor 108:842–855.

Hennings, L.A., and W.D. Edge. 2003. Riparian bird community structure in Portland, Oregon: Habitat, urbanization, and spatial scale patterns. Condor 105:288-302.

Herkert, J.R. 1997. Bobolink (*Dolichonyx oryzivorus*) population decline in agricultural landscapes in the midwestern USA. Biological Conservation 80:107-112.

Hochachka, W.M, T.E. Martin, V. Artman, C.R. Smith, S.J. Hejl, D.E. Andersen, D. Curson, L. Petit, N. Mathews, T. Donovan, E.E. Klaas, P.B. Wood, J.C. Manolis, K.P. McFarland, J.V. Nichols, J.C.
Bednarz, D.M. Evans, J.P. Duguay, S. Garner, J. Tewksbury, K.L. Purcell, J. Faaborg, C.B. Goguen, C. Rimmer, R. Dettmers, M. Knutson, L.A. Collazo, L. Garner, D. Whitehead, and G. Geupel. 1999. Scale dependence in the effects of forest coverage on parasitization by brown-headed cowbirds. Studies in Avian Biology 18:80-88.

Hodges, M.F., Jr., and D.G. Krementz 1996. Neotropical migratory breeding bird communities in riparian forests of different widths along the Altamaha River, Georgia. Wilson Bulletin 108:496-506.

Howell, C.A., W.D. Dijak, and F.R. Thompson, III. 2007. Landscape context and selection for forest edge by breeding brown-headed cowbirds. Landscape Ecology 22:273–284.

Hughes, J.M. 2001. Black-billed Cuckoo (*Coccyzus erythropthalmus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/587.

Hunter, W.C., R.D. Ohmart, and B.W. Anderson. 1988. Use of exotic saltcedar (*Tamarix chinensis*) by birds in arid riparian systems. Condor 90:113-123.

Ingold, D.J. 1989. Nesting phenology and competition for nest sites among red-headed and red-bellied woodpeckers and European starlings. Auk 106:209-217.

Ingold, D.J. 1994. Influence of nest-site competition between European starlings and woodpeckers.

Wilson Bulletin 106:227-241.

Ingold, D.J. 1996. Delayed nesting decreases reproductive success in northern flickers: Implications for competition with European starlings. Journal of Field Ornithology 67:321-326.

Ingold, D.J. 1998. The influence of starlings on flicker reproduction when both naturally excavated cavities and artificial nest boxes are available. Wilson Bulletin 110:218-225.

Jackson, J.A., H.R. Ouellet, and B.J. Jackson. 2002. Hairy Woodpecker (*Picoides villosus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/702.

Jacobs, J., and S. Sing. 2007. Ecology and management of saltcedar (*Tamarix ramosissima*, *T. chinensis* and *T. ramosissima* x *T. chinensis* hybrids). USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service. Invasive Species Technical Note MT-13.

James, F.C. 1971. Ordinations of habitat relationships among breeding birds. Wilson Bulletin 83:215-236.

Jones, D., and A. Hansen. 2009. Factors influencing riparian breeding bird communities along the Middle and Lower Yellowstone River. Ecology Department, Montana State University, Bozeman, MT.

Jones, S.L., and J.E. Cornely. 2002. Vesper Sparrow (*Pooecetes gramineus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/624.

Katz, G.L., and P.B. Shafroth. 2003. Biology, ecology and management of *Elaeagnus angustifolia* L. (Russian olive) in western North America. Wetlands 23:763-777.

Kauffman, J.B., and W.C. Krueger. 1984. Livestock impacts on riparian ecosystems and streamside management implications: A review. Journal of Range Management 37:431-438.

Keller, C.M.E., C.S. Robbins, and J.S. Hatfield. 1993. Avian communities in riparian forests of different widths in Maryland and Delaware. Wetlands 13 (Special Issue):137-144.

Kilgo, J.C., R.A. Sargent, B.R. Chapman, and K.V. Miller. 1998. Effect of stand width and adjacent habitat on breeding bird communities in bottomland hardwoods. Journal of Wildlife Management 62:72-83.

Knopf, F.L., and T.E. Olson. 1984. Naturalization of Russian-olive: Implications to Rocky Mountain wildlife. Wildlife Society Bulletin 12:289-298.

Koenig, W.D. 2003. European starlings and their effect on native cavity-nesting birds. Conservation Biology 17:1134-1140.

Kostecke, R.M., J.A. Koloszar, and D.C. Dearborn. 2003. Effect of a reduction in cattle stocking rate on brown-headed cowbird activity. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:1083-1091.

Kricher, J.C. 1995. Black-and-white Warbler (*Mniotilta varia*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/158.

Krueper, D., J. Bart, and T.D. Rich. 2003. Response of vegetation and breeding birds to the removal of cattle on the San Pedro River, Arizona (U.S.A). Conservation Biology 17:607–615.

Kruk, M., M.A.W. Noordervliet, and W.J. ter Keurs. 1997. Survival of black-tailed godwit chicks *Limosa limosa* in intensively exploited grassland areas in the Netherlands. Biological Conservation 80:127-133.

Lesica, P., and S. Miles. 1999. Russian olive invasion into cottonwood forests along a regulated river in north-central Montana. Canadian Journal of Botany 77:1077-1083.

Lesica, P., and S. Miles. 2001. Natural history and invasion of Russian olive along eastern Montana rivers. Western North American Naturalist 61:1-10.

Lowther, P.E. 1993. Brown-headed Cowbird (*Molothrus ater*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/047.

Lowther, P.E., C. Celada, N.K. Klein, C.C. Rimmer, and D.A. Spector. 1999. Yellow Warbler (*Setophaga petechia*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/45.

Lucas, R.W., T.T. Baker, M.K. Wood, C.D. Allison, and D.M. Vanleeuwen. 2004. Riparian vegetation response to different intensities and seasons of grazing. Journal of Range Management 57:466-474.

Lynn, S., M.L. Morrison, A.J. Kuenzi, J.C.C. Neal, B.N. Sacks, R. Hamlin, and L.S. Hall. 1998. Bird use of riparian vegetation along the Truckee River, California and Nevada. Great Basin Naturalist 58:328-343.

MacArthur, R.H., and J.W. MacArthur. 1961. On bird species diversity. Ecology 42:594-598.

Martin, J.W., and J.R. Parrish. 2000. Lark Sparrow (*Chondestes grammacus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/488.

Martin, S.G. 2002. Brewer's Blackbird (*Euphagus cyanocephalus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/616.

Martin, S.G., and T.A. Gavin. 1995. Bobolink (*Dolichonyx oryzivorus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/176.

Martin, T.E. 1981. Limitation in small habitat islands: Chance or competition? Auk 98:715-734.

Martin, T.G., and H.P. Possingham. 2005. Predicting the impact of livestock grazing on birds using foraging height data. Journal of Applied Ecology 42:400-408.

Martin, T.G., and S. McIntyre. 2007. Impacts of livestock grazing and tree clearing on birds of woodland and riparian habitats. Conservation Biology 21:504-514.

McGraw, K.J., and A.L. Middleton. 2009. American Goldfinch (*Spinus tristis*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/080.

McMaster, D.G., J.H. Devries, and S.K. Davis. 2005. Grassland birds nesting in haylands of southern Saskatchewan: Landscape influences and conservation priorities. Journal of Wildlife Management 69:211-221.

Melhop, P., and J.F. Lynch. 1986. Bird/habitat relationships along a successional gradient in the Maryland Coastal Plain. American Midland Naturalist 116:225-239.

Merritt, D.M., and H.L. Bateman. 2012. Linking stream flow and groundwater to avian habitat in a desert riparian system. Ecological Applications 22:1973–1988.

Middleton, A.L. 1998. Chipping Sparrow (*Spizella passerina*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/334.

Miller, J.R., M.D. Dixon, and M.G. Turner. 2004. Response of avian communities in large-river floodplains to environmental variation at multiple scales. Ecological Applications 14:1394–1410.

Montana Natural Heritage Program (MTNHP). 2013. Montana field guide. www.fieldguide.mt.gov. Accessed October 8, 2013.

Morgan, T.C., C.A. Bishop, and T.D. Williams. 2007. Yellow-breasted chat and gray catbird productivity in a fragmented western riparian system. Wilson Journal of Ornithology 119:494–498.

Morris, D.L., and F.R. Thompson, III. 1998. Effects of habitat and invertebrate density on abundance and foraging behavior of brown-headed cowbirds. Auk 115:376-385.

Morrison, M.L., and D.C. Hahn. 2002. Geographic variation in cowbird distribution, abundance, and parasitism. Studies in Avian Biology 25:65-72.

Morrison, M.L., and E.C. Meslow 1983. Impacts of forest herbicides on wildlife: Toxicity and habitat alteration. Transactions of the North American Wildlife Natural Resources Conference 48:175-185.

Mosconi, S.L., and R.L. Hutto. 1982. The effect of grazing on the land birds of a western Montana riparian habitat. p. 221-233. *In* J.M. Peek, and P.D. Dalke (Eds.), Proceedings of the wildlife-livestock relationships symposium. Forest, Wildlife and Range Experiment Station, University of Idaho, Moscow, ID.

Mund-Meyerson, M.J. 1998. Arthropod abundance and composition on native vs. exotic vegetation in the Middle Rio Grande riparian forest as related to avian foraging. Thesis (M.S.). The University of New Mexico, Albuquerque, NM.

Nelson, K.S., E.M. Gray, and J.R. Evans. 2011. Finding solutions for bird restoration and livestock management: Comparing grazing exclusion levels. Ecological Applications 21:547–554.

Nocera, J.J., G.J. Parsons, G.R. Milton, and A.H. Fredeen. 2005. Compatibility of delayed cutting regime with bird breeding and hay nutritional quality. Agriculture, Ecosystems, and Environment 107:245–253.

Noson, A., M. Fylling, and K. Smucker. 2008. Distribution of birds along the Missouri and Madison River corridors. Avian Science Center, Division of Biological Sciences, University of Montana, Missoula, MT.

Ortega, C., and G.E. Hill. 2010. Black-headed Grosbeak (*Pheucticus melanocephalus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/143.

Panjabi, A.O., E.H. Dunn, P.J. Blancher, W.C. Hunter, B. Altman, J. Bart, C.J. Beardmore, H. Berlanga, G.S. Butcher, S.K. Davis, D.W. Demarest, R. Dettmers, W. Easton, H. Gomez de Silva Garza, E.E. Inigo-Elias, D.N. Pashley, C.J. Ralph, T.D. Rich, K.V. Rosenberg, C.M. Rustay, J.M. Ruth, J.S. Wendt, and T.C. Will. 2005. The Partners in Flight handbook on species assessment. Version 2005. Partners in Flight Technical Series No. 3. Rocky Mountain Bird Observatory, Fort Collins, CO. http://www.rmbo.org/pubs/downloads/Handbook2005.pdf.

Paton, P.W.C. 1994. The effect of edge on avian nest success: How strong is the evidence? Conservation Biology 8:17-26.

Peak, R.G., and F.R. Thompson, III. 2006. Factors affecting avian species richness and density in riparian areas. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:173-179.

Peak, R.G., F.R. Thompson, III, and T.L. Shaffer. 2004. Factors affecting songbird nest survival in riparian forests in a Midwestern agricultural landscape. Auk 121:726–737.

Pendleton, R.L., B.K. Pendleton, and D. Finch. 2011. Displacement of native riparian shrubs by woody

exotics: Effects on arthropod and pollinator community composition. Natural Resources and Environmental Issues 16, Article 25.

Perkins, M.W., R.J. Johnson, and E.E. Blankenship. 2003. Response of riparian avifauna to percentage and pattern of woody cover in an agricultural landscape. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31:642-660.

Perlut, N.G., A.M. Strong, T.M. Donovan, and N.J. Buckley. 2006. Grassland songbirds in a dynamic management landscape: Behavioral responses and management strategies. Ecological Applications 16:2235-2247.

Perlut, N.G., A.M. Strong, T.M. Donovan, and N.J. Buckley. 2008. Regional population viability of grassland songbirds: Effects of agricultural management. Biological Conservation 141:3139-3151.

Peterjohn, B.G., and J.R. Sauer. 1999. Population status of North American grassland birds from the North American Breeding Bird Survey, 1966-1996. Studies in Avian Biology 19:27-44.

Peterjohn, B.G., J.R. Sauer, and S. Schwartz. 2000. Temporal and geographic patterns in population trends of brown-headed cowbirds. p. 21-34. *In* J.N.M Smith, T.L. Cook, S.I. Rothstein, S.G. Sealy, and S.K. Robinson (Eds.), Ecology and management of cowbirds. University of Texas Press, Austin, TX.

Porneluzi, P., M.A. Van Horn, and T.M. Donovan. 2011. Ovenbird (*Seiurus aurocapilla*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/088.

Purcell, K.L., and J. Verner. 1999. Abundance and rates of brood parasitism by brown-headed cowbirds over an elevational gradient in the southern Sierra Nevada. Studies in Avian Biology 18:97-103.

Rich, T.D. 2002. Using breeding land birds in the assessment of western riparian systems. Wildlife Society Bulletin 30:1128-1139.

Robinson, S.K., S.I. Rothstein, M.C. Brittingham, L.J. Petit, and J.A. Grzybowski. 1995. Ecology and behavior of cowbirds and their impact on host populations. p. 428-460. *In* T.E. Martin, and D.M. Finch (Eds.), Ecology and management of Neotropical migratory birds: A synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

Rodenhouse, N.L., L.B. Best, R.J. O'Conner, and E.K. Bollinger. 1993. Effects of temperate agriculture on Neotropic migrant landbirds. p. 280-295. *In* D.M. Finch, and P.W. Stangel (Eds.), Status and management of Neotropical migratory birds. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RM-229.

Rodewald, A.D., and M.H. Bakermans. 2006. What is the appropriate paradigm for riparian forest conservation? Biological Conservation 128:193-200.

Rothstein, S.I., J. Verner, and E. Stevens. 1984. Radio-tracking confirms a unique diurnal pattern of spatial occurrence in the parasitic brown-headed cowbird. Ecology 65:77-88.

Rothstein, S.I., J. Verner, E.Stevens, L.V. Ritter, S.K. Heath, L.A. Culp, and C.A. Howell. 1987. Behavioral differences among sex and age classes of the brown-headed cowbird and their relation to the efficacy of a control program. Wilson Bulletin 99:322-337.

Rottenborn, S.C. 1999. Predicting the impacts of urbanization on riparian bird communities. Biological Conservation 88:289-299.

Rumble, M.A., and J.E. Gobeille. 2004. Avian use of successional cottonwood (*Populus deltoides*) woodlands along the middle Missouri River. American Midland Naturalist 152:165-177.

Saab, V. 1998. Effects of recreational activity and livestock grazing on habitat use by breeding birds in cottonwood forests along the South Fork Snake River. Bureau of Land Management, Pocatello, ID. Technical Bulletin 98-17.

Saab, V. 1999. Importance of spatial scale to habitat use by breeding birds in riparian forests: A hierarchical analysis. Ecological Applications 9:135-151.

Saab, V., C.E. Bock, T.D. Rich, and D.S. Dobkin. 1995. Livestock grazing effects in western North America. p. 311-353. *In* T.E. Martin, and D.M. Finch (Eds.), Ecology and management of Neotropical migratory birds: A synthesis and review of critical issues. Oxford University Press, New York, NY.

Sallabanks, R., J.R. Walters, and J.A. Collazo. 2000. Breeding bird abundance in bottomland hardwood forests: Habitat, edge, and patch size effects. Condor 102:748-758.

Sauer, J.R., J.E. Hines, J.E. Fallon, K.L. Pardieck, D.J. Ziolkowski, Jr., and W.A. Link. 2012. The North American Breeding Bird Survey, Results and Analysis 1966 - 2011. Version 07.03.2013. USGS Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, Laurel, MD.

Scharf, W.C., and J. Kren. 2010. Orchard Oriole (*Icterus spurius*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/255.

Schulz, T.T., and W.C. Leininger. 1990. Differences in riparian vegetation structure between grazed areas and exclosures. Journal of Range Management 43:295-299.

Schulz, T.T., and W.C. Leininger. 1991. Nongame wildlife communities in grazed and ungrazed montane riparian sites. Great Basin Naturalist 51:286-292.

Scott, M.L., S.K. Skagen, and M.F. Merigliano. 2003. Relating geomorphic change and grazing to avian communities in riparian forests. Conservation Biology 17:284-296.

Seavy, N.E., J.H. Viers, and J.K. Wood. 2009. Riparian bird response to vegetation structure: A multiscale analysis using LiDAR measurements of canopy height. Ecological Applications

19:1848–1857.

Sechrist, J.D., and D.D. Ahlers. 2003. Movements and homerange estimates of female Brown-headed cowbirds along the Rio Grande, New Mexico. Studies in Avian Biology 26:143-151.

Sedgwick, J.A. and F.L. Knopf. 1987. Breeding bird response to cattle grazing of a cottonwood bottomland. Journal of Wildlife Management 51:230-237.

Sedgwick, J.A. and F.L. Knopf. 1991. Prescribed grazing as a secondary impact in a western riparian floodplain. Journal of Range Management 44:369-373.

Sexton, J.P., A. Sala, K. Murray. 2006. Occurrence, persistence, and expansion of saltcedar (*Tamarix* spp.) populations in the Great Plains of Montana. Western North American Naturalist 66:1-11.

Shanahan, S.A., S.M. Nelson, D.M Van Dooremolen, and J.R. Eckberg. 2011. Restoring habitat for riparian birds in the lower Colorado River watershed: An example from the Las Vegas Wash, Nevada. Journal of Arid Environments 75:1182-1190.

Sharp, B.L., and B.E. Kus. 2006. Factors influencing the incidence of cowbird parasitism of least bell's vireos. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:682-690.

Sherry, T.W., and R.T. Holmes. 1997. American Redstart (*Setophaga ruticilla*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/277.

Slater, S.J. 2006. Wyoming's riparian bird communities: Issues of scale and human-caused vegetation and landscape change. Dissertation (Ph D.), The University of Wyoming, Laramie, WY.

Small, S.L. 2005. Mortality factors and predators of spotted towhee nests in the Sacramento Valley, CA. Journal of Field Ornithology 76:252-258.

Smith, K.G., J.H. Withgott, P.G. Rodewald. 2000. Red-headed Woodpecker (*Melanerpes erythrocephalus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/518.

Smith, R.J., M.I. Hatch, D.A. Cimprich, and F.R. Moore. 2011. Gray Catbird (*Dumetella carolinensis*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/167.

Sogge, M.K., S.J. Sferra, and E.H. Paxton. 2008. *Tamarix* as habitat for birds: Implications for riparian restoration in the southwestern United States. Restoration Ecology 16:146-154.

Stanley, T.R. and F.L. Knopf. 2002. Avian response to late-season grazing in a shrub-willow floodplain. Conservation Biology 16:225-231.

Stauffer, F., and L.B. Best. 1980. Habitat selection by birds of riparian communities: Evaluating effects of habitat alterations. Journal of Wildlife Management 44:1-15.

Stoleson, S.H., and D.M. Finch. 2001. Breeding bird use of and nesting success in exotic Russian olive in New Mexico. Wilson Bulletin 113:452–455.

Stribley, J.M., and J.B. Haufler. 1999. Landscape effects on cowbird occurrences in Michigan: Implications to research needs in forests of the inland west. Studies in Avian Biology 18:68-72.

Stumpf, K.J., T.C. Theimer, M.A. McLeod, and T.J. Koronkiewicz. 2012. Distance from riparian edge reduces brood parasitism of southwestern willow flycatchers, whereas parasitism increases nest predation risk. Journal of Wildlife Management 76:269–277.

Tarof, S., and J.V. Briskie. 2008. Least Flycatcher (*Empidonax minimus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/099.

Taylor, D.M. 1986. Effects of cattle grazing on passerine birds nesting in riparian habitat. Journal of Range Management 39:254-258.

Taylor, M., and C.D. Littlefield. 1986. Willow flycatcher and yellow warbler response to cattle grazing. American Birds 40:1169-1173.

Temple, S.A. 2002. Dickcissel (*Spiza americana*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/703.

Tewksbury, J.J., S.J. Hejl, and T.E. Martin. 1998. Breeding productivity does not decline with increasing fragmentation in a western landscape. Ecology 79:2890-2903.

Tewksbury, J.J., T.E. Martin, S.J. Hejl, T.S. Redman, and F.J. Wheeler. 1999. Cowbirds in a western valley: Effects of landscape structure, vegetation, and host density. Studies in Avian Biology 18:23-33.

Tewksbury, J.J., A.E. Black, N. Nur, V.A. Saab, B.D. Logan, and D.S. Dobkin. 2002. Effects of anthropogenic fragmentation and livestock grazing on western riparian bird communities. Studies in Avian Biology 25:158-202.

Tewksbury, J.J., L. Garner, S. Garner, J.D. Lloyd, V. Saab, and T.E. Martin. 2006. Tests of landscape influence: Nest predation and brood parasitism in fragmented ecosystems. Ecology 87:759-768.

Thompson, F.R., III. 1994. Temporal and spatial patterns of breeding brown-headed cowbirds in the Midwestern United States. Auk 111:979-990.

vanHorne, B. 1983. Density as a misleading indicator of habitat quality. Journal of Wildlife

Management 47:893-901.

VanRiper, C., III, K.L. Paxton, C. O'Brien, P.B. Shafroth, and L.J. McGrath. 2008. Rethinking avian response to tamarix on the lower Colorado River: A threshold hypothesis. Restoration Ecology 16:155–167.

Verner, J., and L.V. Ritter. 1983. Current status of the brown-headed cowbird in the Sierra National Forest. Auk 100:355-368.

Vickery, P.D. 1996. Grasshopper Sparrow (*Ammodramus savannarum*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/239.

Walcheck, K.C. 1970. Nesting bird ecology of four plant communities in the Missouri River Breaks, Montana. Wilson Bulletin 82:370-382.

Wales, B.C. 2001. The management of insects, diseases, fire, and grazing and implications for terrestrial vertebrates using riparian habitats in eastern Oregon and Washington. Northwest Science 75 (Special Issue):119-127.

Walsberg, G.E. 2005. Cattle grazing in a national forest greatly reduces nesting success in a ground-nesting sparrow. Condor 107:714-716.

Wheelwright, N.T., and J.D. Rising. 2008. Savannah Sparrow (*Passerculus sandwichensis*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/045.

White, H.M. 2011. Riparian bird-habitat association models: A framework for informing management and developing restoration guidelines in Utah. Thesis (M.S.), Utah State University, Logan, UT.

Wiebe, K.L. 2003. Delayed timing as a strategy to avoid nest-site competition: Testing a model using data from starlings and flickers. Oikos 100:291-298.

Witmer, M.C., D.J. Mountjoy, and L. Elliot. 1997. Cedar Waxwing (*Bombycilla cedrorum*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY.http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/309.

Wyatt, V.E., and C.M. Francis. 2002. Rose-breasted Grosbeak (*Pheucticus ludovicianus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/692.

Yasukawa, K., and W.A. Searcy. 1995. Red-winged Blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*). *In* A. Poole (Ed.), The Birds of North America Online. Cornell Lab of Ornithology, Ithaca, NY. http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/184.

Yong, T.H., and C.S. Crawford. 1997. Ecology of two microlepidopteran leaf-rollers in an arid-land riparian forest. Southwestern Naturalist 42:155-161.

Yong, W., and D.M. Finch. 2002. Stopover ecology of landbirds migrating along the middle Rio Grande in spring and fall. USDA Forest Service General Technical Report RMRS-99.

Young, J.S., and R.L. Hutto. 1999. Habitat and landscape factors affecting cowbird distribution in the northern Rockies. Studies in Avian Biology 18:41-51.

Zanette, L., D.T. Haydon, J.N.M. Smith, M.J. Taitt, and M. Clinchy. 2007. Reassessing the cowbird threat. Auk 124:210-223.

Appendix 1. Riparian breeding bird species detected during point count surveys conducted along the Yellowstone River in the summers of 2006 and 2007 (Jones and Hansen 2009). Non-target species (ducks, raptors, upland gamebirds, and shorebirds) are excluded. Species included in each of the two habitat guilds ('Forest Specialist' and 'Understory Specialist') are reported, as well as species designated as 'Riparian Obligates' and 'Declining Species'. The conservation status is also summarized for each of the species when appropriate.

		Habitat Gui	ild Associations			
Common Name	Scientific Name	Forest Specialist ¹	Understory Specialist ²	Riparian Obligate ³	Declining Species⁴	Species of General Conservation Concern ⁵
American Crow	Corvus brachyrhynchos					
American Goldfinch	Carduelis tristis		Х			
American Redstart	Setophaga ruticilla	Х	Х	X	Х	
American Robin	Turdus migratorius					
Baltimore Oriole	Icterus galbula			X	Х	
Barn Swallow	Hirundo rustica					
Black-and-white Warbler	Mniotilta varia	X		X		PSOC
Black-billed Cuckoo	Coccyzus erythropthalmus					SOC, PIF Watchlist, MTFWP Moderate
		Х	Х	X	Х	Conservation Need
Black-billed Magpie	Pica hudsonia					
Black-capped Chickadee	Poecile atricapillus	X			Х	
Black-headed Grosbeak	Pheucticus melanocephalus	X	Х			
Blue Jay	Cyanocitta cristata					
Bobolink	Dolichonyx oryzivorus					SOC, BLM Sensitive
Brewers Blackbird	Euphagus cyanocephalus					
Brown Thrasher	Toxostoma rufum				Х	
Brown-headed Cowbird	Molothrus ater					
Bullock's Oriole	Icterus bullockii			X		
Cedar Waxwing	Bombycilla cedrorum	Х	Х			

¹ Forest specialist species prefer habitats comprised of extensive forest.

² Understory specialist species forage or nest in the shrub strata of the forest, and depend upon structurally complex habitats.

³ Riparian obligates are species largely dependent on riparian habitats in the western US.

⁴ Declining species are species experiencing significantly negative long-term (1966-2011) population trends reported from the Breeding Bird Survey.

⁵ For species of general conservation concern, conservation status is reported for The Montana Natural Heritage Program ('Potential Species of Concern (PSOC)' or 'Species of Concern (SOC)'), Partners in Flight (PIF Watchlist Species), Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP), and Bureau of Land Management (BLM).

Appendix 1 continued.

		Habitat Gu	ild Associations				
Common Name	Scientific Name	Forest Specialist ¹	Understory Specialist ²	Riparian Obligate ³	Declining Species⁴	Species of General Conservation Concern ⁵	
Chimney Swift	Chaetura pelagica				Х	PSOC	
Chipping Sparrow	Spizella passerina						
Clay-colored sparrow	Spizella pallida				X		
Cliff Swallow	Petrochelidon pyrrhonota						
Common Grackle	Quiscalus quiscula						
Common Yellowthroat	Geothlypis trichas		Х	X	Х		
Dickcissel	Spiza americana					PSOC	
Downy Woodpecker	Picoides pubescens	X					
Eastern Kingbird	Tyrannus tyrannus				Х		
European Starling	Sturnus vulgaris				Х		
Field Sparrow	Spizella pusilla						
Grasshopper Sparrow	Ammodramus savannarum						
Gray Catbird	Dumetella carolinensis	X	Х	Х			
Hairy Woodpecker	Picoides villosus	X					
House Wren	Troglodytes aedon	X					
Lark Sparrow	Chondestes grammacus						
Lazuli Bunting	Passerina amoena		Х				
Least Flycatcher	Empidonax minimus	X					
Least Tern*	Sterna antillarum					SOC, Federally Endangered, PIF Watchlist, MTFWP Greatest Conservation Need	

¹ Forest specialist species prefer habitats comprised of extensive forest.

² Understory specialist species forage or nest in the shrub strata of the forest, and depend upon structurally complex habitats.

³ Riparian obligates are species largely dependent on riparian habitats in the western US.

⁴ Declining species are species experiencing significantly negative long-term (1966-2011) population trends reported from the Breeding Bird Survey.

⁵ For species of general conservation concern, conservation status is reported for The Montana Natural Heritage Program ('Potential Species of Concern (PSOC)' or 'Species of Concern (SOC)'), Partners in Flight (PIF Watchlist Species), Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP), and Bureau of Land Management (BLM).

Appendix 1 continued.

		Habitat Gui	ld Associations				
Common Name	Scientific Name	Forest Specialist ¹	Understory Specialist ²	Riparian Obligate ³	Declining Species⁴	Species of General Conservation Concern ⁵	
Mountain Bluebird	Sialia currucoides						
Mourning Dove	Zenaida macroura				Х		
Northern Flicker	Colaptes auratus				Х		
Orchard Oriole	Icterus spurius			X	Х		
Ovenbird	Seiurus aurocapilla	X		X	Х	PSOC	
Plumbeous Vireo	Vireo plumbeous	X				PSOC	
Red-eyed Vireo	Vireo olivaceous	X			Х		
Red-headed Woodpecker	Melanerpes erythrocephalus				X	SOC, PIF Watchlist, MTFWP Moderate Conservation Need, BLM Sensitive	
Red-naped Sapsucker	Sphyrapicus nuchalis				Λ	Sensitive	
Red-winged Blackbird	Agelaius phoeniceus						
Rose-breasted Grosbeak	Pheucticus Iudovicianus	X					
Savannah Sparrow	Passerculus sandwichensis						
Song Sparrow	Melospiza melodia		Х	Х			
Spotted Towhee	Pipilo maculatus		Х				
Swainson's Thrush	Catharus ustulatus						
Tree Swallow	Tachycineta bicolor						
Vesper Sparrow	Pooecetes gramineus				Х		
Violet-green Swallow	Tachycineta thalassina						
Warbling Vireo	Vireo gilvus						
Western Kingbird	Tyrannus verticalis						
Western Meadowlark	Sturnella neglecta				Х		

¹ Forest specialist species prefer habitats comprised of extensive forest.

² Understory specialist species forage or nest in the shrub strata of the forest, and depend upon structurally complex habitats.

³ Riparian obligates are species largely dependent on riparian habitats in the western US.

⁴ Declining species are species experiencing significantly negative long-term (1966-2011) population trends reported from the Breeding Bird Survey.

⁵ For species of general conservation concern, conservation status is reported for The Montana Natural Heritage Program ('Potential Species of Concern (PSOC)' or 'Species of Concern (SOC)'), Partners in Flight (PIF Watchlist Species), Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP), and Bureau of Land Management (BLM).

Appendix 1 continued.

		Habitat Gui	ld Associations			
Common Name	Scientific Name	Forest Specialist ¹	Understory Specialist ²	Riparian Obligate ³	Declining Species ⁴	Species of General Conservation Concern ⁵
Western Wood-pewee	Contopus sordidulous	Х				
White-breasted Nuthatch	Sitta carolinensis	X				
White-throated Swift	Aeronautes saxatalis					
Yellow Warbler	Dendroica petechia	X	Х	X		
Yellow-bellied Sapsucker	Sphyrapicus varius					
Yellow-breasted Chat	Icteria virens		Х	X		
Yellow-headed Blackbird Xanthocephalus						
	xanthocephalus					

¹ Forest specialist species prefer habitats comprised of extensive forest.

² Understory specialist species forage or nest in the shrub strata of the forest, and depend upon structurally complex habitats.

³ Riparian obligates are species largely dependent on riparian habitats in the western US.

⁴ Declining species are species experiencing significantly negative long-term (1966-2011) population trends reported from the Breeding Bird Survey.

⁵ For species of general conservation concern, conservation status is reported for The Montana Natural Heritage Program ('Potential Species of Concern (PSOC)' or 'Species of Concern (SOC)'), Partners in Flight (PIF Watchlist Species), Montana Fish Wildlife and Parks (MTFWP), and Bureau of Land Management (BLM).

Appendix 2. Relationships identified between changes in habitat resources and riparian avian communities when the extent of cottonwood forest habitat declines as a result of land use activities. The specific relationships (i.e. 'Direction of Response') between metrics quantifying the habitat resource and avian response are reported, as well as citations supporting these relationships. Citations followed by (*) indicate studies conducted in western North America.

Physical Impact	Habitat Resource Metric	Avian Response Metric	Direction of Response	Citations
Loss of cottonwood	Area of forest cover	Species richness	+	Rottenborn 1999*, Saab 1999*, Tewksbury et al. 2002*, Hennings and Edge 2003*, Gentry et al. 2006*
forest habitat		Total bird	+	Tewksbury et al. 2002*
naonat	abundance	-	Tewksbury et al. 2002*, Hennings and Edge 2003*	
	Richness or abundance of forest specialist species	+	Perkins et al. 2003*	
		Richness or abundance of riparian obligate species	+	Rottenborn 1999*
	Riparian forest	Species richness	+	Stauffer and Best 1980, Kilgo et al. 1998, Peak and Thompson 2006, Cooke and Zack 2008*
	width	-	-	Sallabanks et al. 2000
		Total bird	+	Conner et al. 2004, Cooke and Zack 2008*
		abundance	-	Kilgo et al. 1998
		Richness or abundance of forest specialist species	+	Kilgo et al. 1998, Peak and Thompson 2006

Appendix 2 continued.

Physical Impact	Habitat Resource Metric	Avian Response Metric	Direction of Response	Citations
Loss of cottonwood forest habitat	Riparian forest width	Richness or abundance of riparian obligate species	+	Cooke and Zack 2008*, 2009*
	Patch size	Species richness	+	Saab 1999*
		Richness or abundance of forest specialist species	+	Davidson and Knight 2001*
		Richness or abundance of riparian obligate species	+	Dobkin and Wilcox 1986*
		Predation or parasitism	None	Heltzel and Earnst 2006*, Peak et al. 2004, Tewksbury et al. 1998*, Fletcher 2009*, Morgan et al. 2007*
	Distance to edge	Species richness	None	Miller et al. 2004, Sallabanks et al. 2000
		Predation or parasitism	None	Gentry et al. 2006*, Heltzel and Earnst 2006*, Peak et al. 2004, Tewksbury et al. 1998*, Davidson and Knight 2001*
			-	Sharp and Kus 2006*

Appendix 3. Relationships identified between changes in habitat resources and riparian avian communities when the structural complexity of cottonwood forest habitat declines as a result of land use activities. The specific relationships (i.e. 'Direction of Response') between metrics quantifying the habitat resources and avian responses are reported, as well as citations supporting these relationships. Citations followed by (*) denote studies that simultaneously examined the effects of grazing on habitat structure and bird communities.

Physical Impact	Habitat Resource Metric	Avian Response Metric	Direction of Response	Citations
Decline in Density of the understory structural vegetation	Species richness	+	Walcheck 1970, Anderson and Ohmart 1977, Fleishman et al. 2003, Merritt and Bateman 2012, Kilgo et al. 1998, Taylor 1986*, Martin and McIntyre 2007*, Tewksbury et al. 2002*, Nelson et al. 2011*	
complexity of forest habitat		Richness or abundance of understory species	+	Saab 1998*, Scott et al. 2003, White 2011, Bock et al. 1993 (Review)*, Krueper et al. 2003*, Earnst et al. 2005*, 2012*, Martin and Possingham 2005*, Mosconi and Hutto 1982*, Martin and McIntyre 2007*, Wales 2001 (Review)*, Tewksbury et al. 2002*, Saab et al. 1995 (Review)*, Ammon and Stacey 1997*, Walsberg 2005*
		Total bird abundance	+	Krueper et al. 2003*, Earnst et al. 2012*, Taylor 1986*, Tewksbury et al. 2002*, Nelson et al. 2011*
	Structurally complex habitat	Species richness	+	Finch 1989, Farley et al. 1994, Melhop and Lynch 1986, Rumble and Gobeille 2004, Jones and Hansen 2009, Scott et al. 2003*
types		Richness or abundance of understory species	+	Farley et al. 1994, Rumble and Gobeille 2004, Jones and Hansen 2009, Scott et al. 2003*

Appendix 4. Relationships identified between land use drivers and habitat resources when land use activities result in the expansion of Brown-headed Cowbirds into riparian habitats. For this Physical Impact, habitat resources are measures of habitat degradation by Cowbird parasitism. The specific relationships (i.e. 'Direction of Response') between metrics quantifying the land use drivers and habitat resources are reported, as well as citations supporting these relationships.

Physical Impact	Land Use Driver Metric	Habitat Resource Metric	Direction of Response	Citations
Expansion	Distance to nearest	Rate of nest parasitism	-	Borgmann and Morrison 2010, Chace et al. 2003
of detrimental	residential, urban, or exurban area	Cowbird abundance	-	Young and Hutto 1999, Borgmann and Morrison 2010, Chace et al. 2003
species: Brown- headed	Area of residential, urban, or exurban in landscape	Rate of nest parasitism	+	Burhans and Thompson 2006, Airola 1986, Tewksbury et al. 2006, Tewksbury et al. 1998
Cowbirds		Cowbird abundance	+	Burhans and Thompson 2006, Coker and Capen 1995
	Distance to nearest agriculture (cropland, pasture)	Cowbird abundance	-	Tewksbury et al. 1999, Young and Hutto 1999, Coker and Capen 1995
	Area of agriculture	Rate of nest parasitism	None	Tewksbury et al. 2006
	(cropland, pasture) in surrounding landscape	Cowbird abundance	+	Stribley and Haufler 1999, Coker and Capen 1995
	Distance to nearest livestock area	Rate of nest parasitism	-	Goguen and Mathews 2000, Kostecke et al. 2003, Brodhead et al. 2007, Borgmann and Morrison 2010, Airola 1986, Purcell and Verner 1999
		Cowbird abundance	-	Goguen and Mathews 2000, Verner and Ritter 1983, Borgmann and Morrison 2010, Coker and Capen 1995
			None	Kostecke et al. 2003
	Density of livestock areas in landscape	Cowbird abundance	+	Coker and Capen 1995